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N N .1 Highlights in 2010

o In April, the Group acquired International United Group Limited (“IUGL HK” or “IUGL”) and will further develop

its plastic packaging business through IUGL; CONTEQ?
° In May, the Hangzhou project on two-piece beverage aluminium cans has made good progress and

successfully obtained one-off certification from various large customers. The project commenced mass

production in the second half of the year;
e In July, invention patent was obtained for the “sealing compound for claw-shape twist caps T\ 5E 92 % £

fBE ) ” from the State Intellectual Property Office;

. “ . . SN w CORPORATE

* In August, the Group formulated the national standards for “claw-shape twist caps (/N jEFZ) " and INFORMATION

“tinplate fully-open easy-open ends (#E#5 &Mk 2F SN %) », and the drafts of which have been reviewed ARAR

and approved by the relevant expert teams;
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Highlights in 2010 : : :

o In September, the Wuhan project on two-piece beverage aluminium cans completed installation and fine tuning

%%QTENTS two months earlier than scheduled and currently is in the stage of obtaining certification from large customers;
o In October, the Group’s “Research on migration pattern of harmful substances in food packaging materials”
won the Technology Advancement Award of China Petroleum and Chemical Industry Association; and
“resembling blue and white porcelain gift can (“/h B E&E 2 MmEE")” won the Asian Can Tech 2010 Decorative
Can Award;
° In November, the national laboratory center set up by the Group formally gained accreditation from China
National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment;
CORPORATE
INFORMATION
LRSH o In December, the Group was honoured as the “2010 Outstanding packaging production base in China”

and “2010 Outstanding packaging brand of China” while Mr. Zhang Xin, our executive director and general
manager, received the award of “The Outstanding Contribution 2010 to China Packaging Industry” from China

Packaging Federation.
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The opening ceremony of CPMC The Asian Can Tech 2010 Decorative Can Award
(Wuhan) Co., Ltd.
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Dear shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to take
this opportunity to present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “CPMC”)
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (the “Year”).

First of all, on behalf of the Board and all staff of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the former
chairman of the Board, Mr. Xue Guoping (“Mr. Xue”), for his contribution to CPMC. Under the leadership of Mr. Xue,
CPMC has attained great transformation and maintained rapid business development in recent years. It has also
successfully weathered the impact of the global financial tsunami in 2008, and went public in Hong Kong. | would
also like to extend my best wishes to Mr. Xue on his retirement.

2010 was the first full financial year for the Group since its initial public offering (the “IPO”). During the year, the Group
endeavored to achieve its strategic targets, vigorously developing the two-piece beverage aluminium cans and plastic
packaging businesses while maintaining its leading positions in several segments of the metal packaging products
industry. During the year, the Group realized a turnover of approximately RMB3.42 billion, up 11.4%, as compared
to the previous year; profit attributable to shareholders was approximately RMB212 million, increased by 44.5%, as
compared to the previous year.

China’s economy maintained its robust growth while the recovery in the global market remained sluggish as
governments around the world strived hard to bail out the global economy after onset of the global financial tsunami.
According to the data from China’s National Bureau of Statistics (“NBS”), China’s GDP grew by 10.3% in 2010
as compared to the previous year while the per capita disposable income increased by more than 10%, helping
to boost consumer confidence and expenditure. Retail sales of consumer goods in the country surged 18.3% in
2010 as compared with 2009. Rising consumer expenditure has not only benefited the retail industry but has also
bolstered the development of the consumer goods packaging industry. Meanwhile, with an increase in income,
consumers have also put more emphasis on the safety of food and packaging materials.

Also, 2010 was still a year of challenges for the Group. According to the data from the NBS, China’s CPI rose 3.3%
in 2010. As a result, the Group alone with most other Chinese manufacturers faced inflationary pressure, particularly
in terms of rising costs of labor and materials. In the wake of the inflationary pressure, the Group proactively took
measures to save energy and reduce emission while advancing its automation level and productivity, pursuing
a sustainable business model that puts emphasis as well on resource saving, environmental protection and
technological improvement.



Chairman’s Letter

The packaging industry, a key part of the national economy, has been growing robustly with strong impetus from
China’s rapid industrialization and urbanization. Looking ahead, the Group remains optimistic about the prospect of
its business and continues to pursue the mission of maintaining a leading position in the integrated consumer goods
packaging market. On the aspect of product development, the Group will take advantage of its competitive edge in
developing new products and new technologies in step with the new trend in the consumer goods market, in order
to further enhance the gross profit margin. On the aspect of customers, the Group will strive to win orders from new
customers while retaining its existing customers, in order to boost its market share. In the face of the challenges
posed by the ever changing business environment and expectations of the capital market, the Group will adjust its
business plans and strategies timely, to maintain and strengthen its leading position in the industry, with the target of
providing environmental-friendly consumer goods packaging products and high-quality services, as well as improving
the living environment and the world by taking into account the benefits of customers, shareholders and the staff.

Finally, on behalf of the Board | would like to thank the Management and all the staff of the Group for their valuable
services and contribution during the past year. | would also like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all the customers,
suppliers, business partners and shareholders for their continuous support to the Group.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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| am pleased to report to the shareholders that the Group realized a turnover of approximately RMB3.42 billion during
the year, increased by 11.4%, as compared to the previous year. Profit attributable to shareholders increased by
approximately 44.5% to approximately RMB212 million (2009: approximately RMB147 million). The increases were
mainly due to (i) the Group’s two-piece beverage aluminium cans production projects operated smoothly, with the
Hangzhou two-piece aluminium beverage cans project starting mass production in the second half of the year after
successfully obtaining certification from various large customers in the first half of the year, while the Wuhan two-
piece aluminium cans project starting trial production in September after completing the equipment installation and
fine-tuning earlier than planned; (i) the Group acquired International United Group Limited (“IUGL HK”or “IUGL”), a
holding company engaged in the plastic packaging business, in April. Sales of the plastic packaging business in 2010
increased by 421% as compared to the previous year; (i) the Group’s other metal products such as metal caps, milk
powder cans, food cans and steel barrels, also attained significant growth, especially in terms of gross profit. Basic
earnings per share of the Company for 2010 was approximately RMBO0.26 (2009: RMBO0.23).

The board of directors (the “Board) has decided to recommend the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.026
(equivalent to HK3.1 cents) (2009: RMBO0.035 (equivalent to HK4 cents)) per ordinary share for the year ended
31 December 2010. Upon approval by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the proposed
final dividend will be distributed on or after Tuesday, 5 July 2011 to shareholders whose names appear on the
shareholders’ register of the Company on Friday, 3 June 2011.



2010 was a year of challenges for the Group, as production costs increased in an inflationary environment while

fierce competition remained in the market. Meanwhile, the Management faced higher expectations from investors

and customers after the Group’s IPO. The Group energetically developed new businesses after the successful listing,

while the existing metal packaging businesses achieved significant growth except the three-piece beverage cans

business which was scaled down in step with the shift in orders from strategic partners.

With the successful listing of the Company’s shares in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group

obtained fresh fund for the implementation of its expansion plans. The Group focused on the formulation and

implementation of the following tasks in 2010:

1.

Accelerating the implementation of various projects with the net proceeds from the IPO

These mainly include the implementation of the Hangzhou and Wuhan two-piece beverage aluminium cans
projects, as well as the procurement of infrastructure and production equipment for subsidiaries in various
regions, which would help upgrade the Group’s core technology and boost production capacity, as well
as consummate the product mix of metal packaging products. The Hangzhou project commenced mass
production in the second half of the year after successfully obtaining certification from various large customers
in the first half of the year, and achieved a monthly output of over 60 million cans in September and October,
respectively. The Wuhan project started trial production in September after completing the installation and
fine-tuning earlier than planned. With the commencement of production, the two-piece beverage aluminium
cans projects have become significant driving forces for the Group’s business expansion and have helped
boost the Group’s profitability. The Group put emphasis on introducing and absorbing core technologies
and implementing innovations through cooperation with partners and by ourselves, while accelerating the
implementation of new projects, as well as mature projects for existing metal packaging businesses, in a bid
to achieve strategic technology support and reserve, as well as enhance core technology and production
capacity.

Actively expanding into plastic packaging business

In April, the Group acquired IUGL. Sales of the plastic packaging business increased by 421% in 2010 as
compared to the previous year. After the acquisition, the Group rapidly expanded into new market segment
and gained new clients through the integration of its existing plastic packaging business and regional
production bases with the existing operational team of IUGL. The Group will further expand its plastic
packaging business through this integrated platform and gradually achieve strategic synergy. The Group will
continue to pursue acquisitions in an active but steady way in 2011, in order to strengthen the Group’s position
in the plastic packaging sector.
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Developing high value-added products by enhancing technology level

The Group has accelerated the development of new technologies and new products by taking advantage of
its technological edges. The CPMC laboratory center has formally gained accreditation from China National
Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS) in November. The Group’s “resembling blue
and white porcelain gift can (“fh SEAZMEE")” won the 2010 Asian Canmaking Technology Award. The
technology center of the Group has formulated the national standards for “claw-shape twist caps /= jE
Z) ” and “tinplate fully-open easy-open ends (IE#HEHR 2RI SHH2E) 7, the drafts of which have been
reviewed and approved by the relevant experts teams. The Group has applied for patents for several types of
cans and devices, and obtained invention patent for the “sealing compound for claw-shape twist caps {/JT{
NEEFAZZE BB ” from the State Intellectual Property Office. The Group’s profitability will be improved as
more and more new products are developed and launched.

Aggressively exploring new market

The Group was actively engaged in macroeconomic analysis, traced the new development in the industry
and followed the trend in the market, with an aim of expanding its client base. In 2010, the Group intentionally
scaled down its outsourced three-piece beverage cans production, and shifted some of the beverage cans
orders of JDB Group (“JDB”) from three-piece beverage cans to two-piece beverage cans, in step with
JDB’s changes in packaging shape and design. We also energetically exploited new customers. As a result,
the Group’s sales of three-piece beverage cans to clients other than JDB increased by 65.7% in 2010 as
compared with the previous year. The sales of two-piece beverage cans, plastic packaging products and other
metal packaging products to new clients also grew at a similar pace.

Implementing operation management for product business segments

The Group has adjusted its organisational structure during 2010 and established an operation management
structure based on business segments. It further defined the vertical management of operation, production
and personnel, and established a matrix management mode comprising the headquarters, operation
departments and regional production centers, laying a foundation for sustaining development in the future. The
implementation of operation management structure can further enhance the internal system for risk control,
improve production efficiency and management standard. It can also centralise the management function of
various operations and improve the efficiency in resources allocation.

Strengthening the management of food safety

The Group has strengthened its professional management team on food safety and improved the relevant
management system, in order to ensure the food safety. The Group was responsible for two State-sponsored
technology research projects: “Technological Research on the Control of Key Noxions Substances in Food
Packaging Materials” project and the sub-project “Metal Food Packaging Containers” under the “Research and
Demonstration on the Key Technology in Food Quality Control” project, both commissioned by the Ministry of
Science and Technology of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).



Managing Director’s Report

7. Environmental protection and energy saving

The Group has made use of environmental-friendly materials and energy-saving production technologies as
much as possible, and developed energy-saving and environmental-friendly packaging products, in order
to prevent pollution on the environment and reduce energy consumption and waste emission. The Group
deployed homemade UV equipment in renovating the printing production line, which will help save about
300,000 cubic meters of natural gas annually and reduce carbon emission by 56 tonnes. The Group also
recycled the used machine-cleansing liquid to save cost and reduce waste. Meanwhile, the Group deployed
wet-film testing equipment on production lines to effectively reduce the consumption of coating materials while
maintaining product quality.

PROSPECT

Looking ahead into 2011, the consumer goods sector of the domestic market is expected to sustain stable growth
with huge potential to be exploited as China’s economy will likely continue with its stable growth despite the fact that
the global economy is still at the recovery stage. The Group remains optimistic about the prospect of its businesses.
The acquisition of IUGL marked the Group’s inroads into the plastic packaging business, the progress of which
will help enrich the product mix and boost the general profitability. Meanwhile, the commencement of two-piece
beverage aluminium cans production in the Hangzhou and Wuhan projects will also help boost business growth.
As the government increasingly tightens its rules and regulations on food safety while consumer consumption
continuously grows, more and more business opportunities emerge for leading players in the packaging sector.
Furthermore, the Group will also find unlimited room for growth when China’s relatively-scattered packaging
industries undergo consolidation in the future.

The Management and | in particular remain optimistic about the future of the Group, and will continue to create value
for shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | sincerely thank all of our shareholders, customers, suppliers and friends for their trust and
continuous support to the Group.

Zhang Xin
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis | |

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods such as food and
beverage including tea drinks, carbonated drinks, fruit and vegetable juice, beer, milk products and household
chemical products. In addition, the Group provides integrated packaging solutions including high technological
packaging design, printing, logistics and total customer services. We are committed to become a leading
manufacturer of packaging products for a series of integrated consumer goods. The products portfolio of the Group
mainly include metal beverage cans (two-piece beverage aluminium cans and three-piece beverage tinplates cans),
integrated metal packaging products and plastic packaging products. The two-piece beverage cans are the metal
beverage packaging that we invested and developed after we were listed. As the largest manufacturer in the metal
packaging industry in China, the Group conducts its business through 12 operating subsidiaries and their branches,
which are strategically located in different regions of China to effectively serve our customers. We ranked first in many
market sub-segments and attracted a lot of domestic and international famous brand clients. We have obtained
their trust, and we have a well established customer base, including domestic and international renowned high end
consumer good manufacturers.

o Beiiing
O Tianjin

O Zhenijiang
O Zhangjiagang
O Wuxi
O Shanghai
O Wuhan

Cohengdu O Hangzhou

oo
Guangzhou Hong Kong

CPMC Holdings Limited



+ I Management Discussion and Analysis

(1) METAL BEVERAGE CANS

2010 2009 Change (%)
Sales (RMB ’Billion) 1.56 1.54 1.3
Sales volume (can ’Billion) 2.16 1.93 1.9
of which:
Three-piece beverage cans 1.68 1.93 -13.0
Two-piece beverage cans 0.48 - 100
Gross profit (RMB ’Billion) 0.27 0.29 -6.9
Gross profit margin 17.3% 19.4% -2.1

The metal beverage cans of the Group include three-piece beverage tinplates cans (“three-piece beverage
cans”) and two-piece beverage aluminium cans (“two-piece beverage cans”) mainly used for the packaging
of carbonated drinks, beer, tea drinks, protein drinks, energy drinks, congees, fruit and vegetable juices and
coffee drinks.

The Group is a leading metal beverage cans manufacturer in China. Our metal beverage cans production lines
are strategically located throughout northern, eastern, southern and southwestern of China and as close as
possible to our clients in order to serve our customers in a timely and cost-efficient manner. At present, the
Group possesses 14 international advanced fully automated three-piece beverage cans production lines, and
also has two international advanced two-piece beverage cans production lines producing over 2000 cans per
minute in Hangzhou and Wuhan respectively. These production lines are fully automated from raw materials
feeding, canning, printing to end product packaging. As tinplates and aluminium are light in weight, easy to
transport, easy to store and are environmental friendly (100% bio-degradable or recyclable), they have become
the international mainstream environmental friendly packaging materials of beverages.

In 2010, the sales of metal beverage cans was the major source of sales of the Group, sales volume for the
year were approximately 2.16 billion cans, sales amount were approximately RMB1.56 billion which were more
or less the same as compared to 2009 approximately RMB1.54 billion, accounting for approximately 45.5% of
the overall sales of the Group (2009: approximately 50.2%). In 2010, the overall gross profit margin of the metal
beverage cans business was approximately 17.3% (2009: approximately 19.4%), representing a decrease of
approximately 2.1%, which was mainly because the two-piece beverage cans production line of the Group
located in Hangzhou was in the stage of the key clients’ certification of goods supply and trial production during
the first half of 2010 and had only commenced stable production in the second half of 2010 after certification
was obtained from the key clients. Whereas the second two-piece beverage cans production line located in
Wuhan was in operation at the end of 2010 and was still in the key clients’ (including JDB) certification and trial
production stage.
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Management Discussion and Analysis :

The sales of the three-piece beverage cans amounted to approximately 1.68 billion cans (2009: approximately

mg'gﬁggmﬁ";m 1.93 bilion cans), representing a decrease of 13.0% over the last year. The major reason of the decrease

ANALYSIS
EBERARDA

was that in order to meet the changes of the beverage packaging format of our strategic client JDB, some
JDB beverage cans orders were changed from three-piece beverage cans to two-piece beverage cans, and
we systematically reduced some of the outsourcing of three-piece beverage cans, and at the same time, we
also actively developed new clients, and expanded the sales to other existing clients to whom sales had been
restricted due to our own production capacity restraints. In 2010, sales to other clients other than JDB grew
by 65.7%. The major clients of three-piece beverage cans were JDB, Red Bull and LoLo etc. In 2011, JDB wiill
continue to transform from three-piece beverage cans to two-piece beverage cans. The Group will continue

to develop and expand customer-base and expand the orders of the existing clients. At the same time, we

ggcggsﬁ&a will continue to work hard to carry out technological transformation and new product development. Through

strengthening fine production and optimization of supply chain management and reduction of the percentage of

outsourcing production, we hope to make up for the impact brought by the switch of cans type by JDB.

Production was commenced in our first two-piece beverage aluminium cans production line located in
Hangzhou in December 2009 with an annual capacity of 700,000,000 cans. Key clients’ certification and trial
production were carried out for the two-piece beverage cans production line located in Hangzhou in the first
half of 2010, and mass production was commenced in the second half of 2010. Besides, the second two-
piece beverage cans production line located in Wuhan commenced operation at the end of 2010 with an

g'&ﬁg;ws AND annual capacity of 800,000,000 cans. It was still in the key clients’ certification and trial production stage. In
E}/@F/T&EMENT 2010 the total sales volume of the two-piece beverage cans reached approximately 480,000,000 cans (2009:
EELER nil). The Group planned to increase investment in the two-piece beverage cans production lines in northern,

southern and southwestern of China; apart from, JDB, our strategic partner as our key clients of two-piece
beverage cans, we also secured several renowned high-end clients, for example Coco-cola (China), Tsingtao
Beer Group, China Resources Beer etc, thus optimizing the customer structure of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(2) INTEGRATED METAL PACKAGING

2010 2009 Change (%)
Sales (RMB 'Billion) 1.74 1.50 16.0
Gross profit (RMB ’Billion) 0.23 0.16 43.8
Gross profit margin 13.2% 10.9% 2.3

The integrated metal packaging business of the Group includes food cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, printed

and coated tinplates, steel barrels and other metal packaging; we are in the leading positions in several market
sub-segments in the integrated metal packaging business in China, including being the first in the printed and
coated tinplates, milk powder cans among food cans, aerosol cans and twist caps among metal caps market

sub-segments in China.

Food cans

Aerosol cans

Metal caps

Printed and
coated tinplates

Steel barrels

Product
description

Product
application

Production
distribution

Major clients

Including milk powder
cans, and ordinary
food cans, of which
we were the largest
manufacturer of milk
powder cans in China

For packing processed
food e.g. milk powder,
nutrient powder and
seasoning, fruit and
vegetable, meat and
seafood

Northern,
eastern, southern,
southwestern of China

Yili, Beingmate,
Dumex, Mead
Johnson, Amway
(China)

We were

the largest
manufacturer of
aerosol cans in
China

For packing
household
chemical
products e.g.
auto accessories,
air freshener,
personal care
products,
pesticide & other
chemical products

Northern, eastern,
southern of China

SC Johnson, 3M,
Amway (China),
Reckitt Benckiser,
Botny, Shenzhen
Caihong

Including twist
caps, Crown caps
and easy-open
ends, of which we
were the largest
manufacturer of
easy-open ends

For packing the
glass bottles of
vegetable, fruit
and seasoning,
beer in bottle

and in can and
carbonated drinks

Northern,

eastern, southern,
southwestern of
China

Tsing Tao Beer,
Anheuser-Busch
InBev, Coca Cola
China, China
Resources, Heinz,
HADAY, Lao Gan
Ma

We were

the largest
manufacturer

of printed and
coated tinplates

To provide
printed and
coated tinplates
to manufacturers
of gift candy box,
food, chemicals,
caps, batteries
and other
electronic and
electric appliances
(e.g. rice cooker)
etc

Northern,

eastern, southern,
southwestern of
China

Sinopec,
Panasonic
(Shanghai), Midea

We mainly
produced steel
barrels of 200 litre
and above

For packing bulk
edible oil, juice,
fruit jam, industrial
essence and
fragrance and
lubricants etc

Northern, eastern,
southern of China

COFCO Eastern
QOils and Grains
(Zhangjiagang) Co.
Ltd., Sinopec, Shell
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Management Discussion and Analysis :

(3)

In 2010, sales of the integrated metal packaging business was approximately RMB1.74 billion (2009:
approximately RMB1.50 billion), accounting for approximately 51.0% of the overall sales (2009: approximately
50.0%), representing an increase of approximately 16.0% as compared to the previous year. In 2010, gross
profit of the integrated metal packaging business was approximately RMBO0.23 billion (2009: approximately
RMBO0.16 billion), representing an increase of approximately 43.8% over the last year. Since the Group was
benefited from the overall growth of the consumer goods market and we actively expanded our marketing
network, sales of all products of the integrated metal packaging business recorded varying degrees of growth
over the last year.

The total market demand of the food cans increased, among which the overall market of milkk powder cans
was in the development phase during which quantity was increasing. Renowned milk powder manufacturers
invested huge amount of capital, driving a substantial growth of the market in the future. Besides, the
customers are more demanding about food safety and the requirements of system certification. The above
factors would be favourable for the development of sizeable suppliers. Following the rapid development of
the economy in China and the growth in GDP per capita in China, there was fast growth of the demand for
aerosol cans, in particularly spray painting and auto-care products in the market. The market of metal caps
was in steady development. With more complex processing of fruits and vegetables, the demand for twist
caps further increased, while the public awareness of food safety had gradually enhanced, customers would
demand more high quality twist caps, which are opportunities to leveraging our advantages and development.
The demand for crown caps had been increasing due to higher degree of consolidation of the beer industry.
The demand for easy-open ends was relatively faster and the market focus was relatively higher, as well as our
metal beverage cans required a large number of easy-open ends, following the further development of two-
piece beverage cans business, together with the demand for the ancillary products of food and beverage cans,
the internal demand for easy-open ends would expand rapidly and the Group had planned to gradually expand
its capability in the ancillary production. The growth of steel barrels market in China was over 12% per annum.
Our customers were mainly renowned companies in different sectors of China and had been increasing their
degree of concentration, thereby demonstrated steady growth. In 2010, the sales of steel barrels grew by 20%
as compared with last year.

PLASTIC PACKAGING

2010 2009 Change (%)
Sales (RMB ’Million) 125 24 421
Gross profit (RMB 'Million) 27 2 1250
Gross profit margin 21.2% 8% 13.2

The Group has acquired IUGL since April 2010, and kept the original management team of IUGL. With the full
cooperation with the original team of IUGL, there was a smooth transition of IUGL. After the acquisition of IUGL,
it was used as a platform to integrate with the existing plastic business to further explore the plastic packaging
business, thereby quickly entered into a new industry and explored new clients, with an aim at achieving
strategic synergies. In 2010, sales of the plastic packaging business were approximately RMB125 million
(2009: approximately RMB24 million), representing an increase of approximately 421%. The key clients of the
plastic packaging business were L’Oreal, Nivea, Johnson & Johnson, Hankel, Reckitt Benckiser, SC Johnson,
Blue Moon, Pigeon and Sinopec etc.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

At present, the Group currently has several imported plastic blow molding and plastic injection production
lines, and we have been relatively well-known in the plastic container application industry such as household
chemicals and grease products. We have now formed a few key customer bases mainly from the household
chemical products and food and beverage industries. We are committed to have long term development in the
plastic packaging of food, beverage and household chemical products, at the same time we would leverage
on our strategic geographical coverage to provide plastic packaging solutions to clients of different operating
modules.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

As at 31 December 2010, sales of the Group were approximately RMB3,417 million (2009: approximately RMB3,066
million), representing an increase of approximately RMB351 million or 11.4%. There were varying degrees of growth
in most of our products, and the sales growth of two-piece beverage cans and plastic packaging business were
particularly remarkable. Profit for the year of the Group reached approximately RMB218 million (2009: approximately
RMB154 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB64 million or 41.6%. This was principally because
the Group strengthened the supply chain management and implemented refined production management etc to
enhance the operating efficiency of facilities and reduce product costs.

GROUP PROFIT

For 2010, operating profit before tax of our Group was approximately RMB286 million (2009: approximately RMB181
million), which increased by approximately RMB105 million or 58% as compared to last year.

Net finance costs were approximately RMB6.7 million (2009: approximately RMB38.7 million), which decreased by
approximately RMB32 million or 83% over last year. It was mainly because our cost of funds were largely reduced by
fund raising during initial public offering and the bank loans raised in Hong Kong.

In 2010, tax expense was approximately RMB68 million (2009: approximately RMB27 million), which increased by
RMB41 million or 152%. This was mainly because operating profit of the Group increased, and the tax concession
(two-year tax exemption and three-year reduction by half) of some subsidiaries were expired. At the same time there
was no more tax concession on the income tax for newly established companies. The effecitve income tax rate of the
Group for 2010 was approximately 23.7% (2009: approximately 15.1%). It was expected that the applicable income
tax rate of the Group for 2013 would be 25%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis :

OUTLOOK IN 2011

Looking forward in 2011, the Group expected that the overall development of consumer goods market in China
would continue to maintain steady growth and we are optimistic about the prospects of our business. The Group will
devote great efforts to develop the metal beverage cans business which maintain a leading position in the industry.
On top of the two-piece beverage cans production lines in Hangzhou and Wuhan, we have planned to build two-
piece beverage cans production lines in northern, southern and southwestern of China while at the same time we will
devote great efforts to develop integrated metal packaging business to strengthen our leading position in the metal
beverage cans packaging sector. For plastic packaging, the Group will further develop its plastic packaging business
through IUGL, and will build new plastic packaging production capacity in the existing regional companies that we set
up throughout China, and at the same time we will also expand by means of mergers and acquisitions. In 2010, there
was relative higher growth in the integrated metal packaging business of the Group. In 2011 the Group will increase
integrated metal packaging business through our own construction or joint venture, or mergers and acquisitions. Our
products portfolio for integrated consumer product packaging will become more diversified.

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2010, the Group’s main source of fund was cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

As at 31 December

2010 2009

RMB ’Million RMB "Million

Net assets 2,401 2,233
Cash and cash equivalents 481 1,017
Total borrowings 520 639
Shareholders’ equity 2,323 2,161
Current ratio 1.40 1.55
Gearing ratio* 1.7% N/A

*

The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity, in which the net borrowings is calculated as total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB2,401 million (2009: approximately
RMB2,233 million). Amount attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately RMB2,323 million,
which increased by 7.5% as compared to approximately RMB2,161 million as at 31 December 2009. The current
ratio was kept at 1.40 in 2010 and 1.55 in 2009. Gearing ratio was 1.7% in 2010 (2009: net cash balance).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents was approximately RMB481 million
(2009: RMB1,017 million). Interest-bearing bank loans decreased from approximately RMB639 million in 2009 to
approximately RMB520 million in 2010. The Group’s bank loans are of one-year term, primarily used to supplement
of working capital. The total carrying value of assets of the Group pledged for bank loans and finance was
approximately RMB178 million (2009: approximately RMB133 million).

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB465 million, which was as follows:

Percentage
to total capital

RMB million expenditure
Wuhan two-piece beverage aluminium cans production line 250 53.8%
Chengdu factory project 26 5.6%
Panyu factory project 38 8.2%
Other purchasing of production facilities 151 32.4%
Total 465 100%

As at 31 December 2010, the capital expenditure of acquiring property, plant and equipment, which has been
contracted but not provided, was approximately RMB159 million (2009: approximately RMB110 million). Other
than operating lease commitments and capital commitments, as at 31 December 2010, the Group had no other
significant commitments and contingent liabilities (2009: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans in U.S. dollars and bank
deposits in Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash balances are denominated in RMB.
The Company had not entered into any foreign exchange hedging arrangement. The directors of the Company
consider that exchange rate fluctuation has no significant impact on the Company’s business and results of
operation.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has 6,275 full-time employees, of which about 1,467 are engineers and
technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows the number of employees of
the Group by function as at 31 December 2010:

No. of Percentage of
Function employees total sum
Management and Administration 812 12.9%
Sales and Marketing 257 4.1%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 693 11.0%
Production and Quality Control 4,513 72.0%
Total 6,275 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis :

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB261 million (2009: approximately
RMB219 million), accounting for 7.6% (2009: 7.1%) of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s staff costs consist
of salaries, social insurance contributions, including pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment insurance,
maternity insurance and job-related injury insurance, housing fund contributions and certain payroll-related expenses.
In addition to statutory contributions, the Group also made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan, which was
implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s employees when they reach certain
seniority. The annuity plan is administered by China Life Pension Company Limited, an independent third party. The
annuity plan is adopted by COFCO to be applicable to qualified employees within COFCO Group and our Group. For
the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group had contributed a total amount of approximately RMB3.7 million to
the plan for the benefit of 510 qualified employees.

At the same time, the Group implemented a policy of adjusting employee remuneration in accordance with the
requirement arising from actual circumstances, and mainly adjusted the remuneration for about 3,000 staff of factory
workers to middle management with an increase of approximately 6.4%, which together with the increase in overtime
payment and social insurance. The increase in the cost paid for 2010 was approximately RMB10 million.

It is extremely important for the Group to attract and retain qualified employees. To achieve this goal, the Group
intends to grant key employees with option to subscribe for the Company’s shares under the Group’s share option
scheme. In addition, the Group implemented a human resources management plan, which is based on the elements
and nature of the job position, for the selection, training and promotion of employees. The Group have adopted
the management evaluation system designed and developed by COFCO. The evaluation system (“KAAPP”), which
covers areas such as knowledge, ability, attitude, personality and performance standards, is used to assess the
performance of the key personnel and to introduce competition for posts. The Group believes that a management
and technical team with unique competitiveness can be developed by means of the above human resources
management.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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USE OF PROCEEDS UPON ISSUANCE OF NEW SHARES

In November 2009, the Company issued 230,000,000 new shares of par value HK$0.10 each pursuant to the
Company’s initial public offering, raising net proceeds of approximately RMB1,000 million (or approximately
HK$1,141 million), in which approximately RMB724 million has been used as follows:

Utilised amount as at
Planned Amount 31 December 2010

RMB million RMB million

Capital Expenditure Projects:
— Wuhan project 383 (305)
— Chengdu project 144 (88)
— Panyu project 180 (38)
— Other projects 120 (120)
Repayment of bank loans 96 (96)
Working capital 77 (77)
Total 1,000 (724)

The remaining portion of the net proceeds was deposited on short-term deposits with licensed financial institutions in
Hong Kong and the PRC.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

4 Shareholders

4 Board of Directors

Company
Secretary

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee

External
Auditor

The board of Directors of the Company (“Directors” or the “Board”) are fully aware of the importance of corporate

ethics in running a successful company and believes that a good and solid corporate governance framework has
given the Company the edge in attracting and retaining talent, enhancing customer loyalty and supplier relationship,
and retaining its position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products for a comprehensive range of consumer
goods. The Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the
listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 November 2009 (the “Listing date”), the Company has complied with the code provisions under
the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company from
time to time with an aim to maintaining and further enhancing the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company, in order to ensure the that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximize the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community as a
whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Upon specific enquiries of all Directors of the Company, each
of them confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year under review.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible to lead and control the business operations of the Group. Decisions made are driven for
the best interests of the shareholders and for maximizing the shareholders’ return. Directors formulate strategic
directions, oversee the operations and monitor the financial and management performance of the Group as a whole.

The Board comprised a combination of two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors as at the date of this report.

Executive Directors:
- Mr. Wang Jinchang (Chairman)
- Mr. Zhang Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
- Mr. Ning Gaoning

- Mr. Zhou Zheng

- Mr. Hu Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:
- Mr. Shi Wanpeng

- Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

- Mr. Fu Tingmei

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having sound industry knowledge, extensive
corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of Directors is set out on pages 39 to 40 of this annual report.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 16 January 2011, Mr. Xue Gouping resigned as a Chairman of the
Board and executive Director of the Company. And Mr. Wang Jinchang was appointed as a Chairman of the Board
on the same day.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board. Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, who is one of the independent non-executive Directors, has a professional qualification
in accountancy. The independent non-executive Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of continuing connected
transactions described in the other section of this annual report. The Board confirms that the Company has received
from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence for the year ended 31
December 2010 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such directors to be independent.

Annual Report 2010

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

EEERULE A

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
SEERRE

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

REPORT OF THE
DIR RS
Ed L3

27



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

I8 R A
1B A

&

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
EERGE

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

E

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

Sy
EFTFWS

28

Corporate Governance Report ||+ -

Functions of the Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal of
maximizing the shareholders’ return. The Board has the following main duties:

° determination of all the corporate matters;

o be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;

o be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

° formulating business strategies and business plans;

o planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure projects;
° internal control and risk management;

° evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and

e annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

Delegation by the Board of Directors

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the
senior management. On 23 October 2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations, business strategies and day-to-day
management to the Managing Director and senior management. The final decision(s) are still under the control of the
Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the three committees.

Chairman and Managing Director

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and Managing Director are separated
and are not performed by the same individual. In substance, Mr. Wang was appointed in Jan 2011 as a Chairman of
the Board who is responsible for the Group’s business strategic and operation of the Board effectively. Furthermore,
the Chairman encourages and facilitates active contribution of Directors in the Board activities and constructive
relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the executive Directors and the senior
management, Mr. Wang ensures the Directors receive adequate information, which is complete and reliable, in a
timely manner. While the Managing Director is primarily responsible for the executive management of the Group’s
daily operations and to ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the
goals of the Group.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
from 23 October 2009. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive Director or independent
non-executive Director for a term of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of these service agreements and letters
of appointment may be terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provide that any Director appointed by the Board, either to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also under the Company’s Articles,
one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Company’s Articles to
remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
the Company’s Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. The Board meets physically and
regularly. During the year ended 31 December 2010, 8 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the
meetings in person or by telephone in accordance with the Company’s Articles. Summary of the Directors’ meeting
attendance is as follows:

Attendance/Total meetings

Executive Directors

Mr. Xue Guoping* 4/8
Mr. Wang Jinchang 4/8
Mr. Zhang Xin 4/8

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ning Gaoning 4/8
Mr. Zhou Zheng 4/8
Mr. Hu Yonglei 4/8

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Wanpeng 8/8
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 8/8
Mr. Fu Tingmei 8/8
* On 16 January 2011, Mr. XUE Gouping resigned as a Chairman of the Board and executive Director of the Company

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2010, there were four out of the eight board meetings related to connected transactions, in
which all the above executive Directors and non-executive Directors had interest and had abstained from attending and voting at that
four board meetings.
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are usually served to all Directors before
the meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all Directors.
Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare board meeting agenda and papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary to include any matters in the
agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with comprehensive briefing papers will
be sent to all Directors before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions at least 3 days
before each Board meeting.

Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and
meetings of the board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted. Moreover,
a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by the Board. If a
substantial shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of written resolution. The
independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent judgment on all issues
relating to such matter. If any Director or his associates have any material interest in any proposed Board resolutions,
such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a meeting of the Directors on any resolutions
approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in which he or any of his associates has directly or
indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the Company’s Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance for all Directors and senior management of the
Company for the year 2010/2011. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and liabilities
for the legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common law,
the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and governance
policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction and strategic

plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and operational performance
of the Company on a regular basis.
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The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent judgment on
issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take lead where potential conflicts of interest
arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng
Yuk Wo has appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related financial management expertise as
required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) upon the
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and
duties. A majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2010. The composition and the details
of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* (2/2)

Mr. Fu Tingmei* (2/2)

Mr. Hu Yonglei* (2/2)

* Independent Non-executive Director

# Non-executive Director

The Financial Controller and the Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company
Secretary have been circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the meeting. No
member of the audit committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements of the
code provisions of the CG Code, are posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

° review and supervision of the financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;

° monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system; and

° consider the independence of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, the internal control system and financial reporting matters. It also reviewed the

financial statements of the Company and the Company’s annual reports, the management letter from the auditors of
the Company and the audit scope and fees for the year ended 31 December 2010.
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The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year ending 2011.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit Committee
to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can arrange
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be considered
necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of
reference for the Nomination committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are
posted on the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

The key objective of the Nomination committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the nominees for
appointment as Director and senior management of the Group.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2010. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Ning Gaoning (Committee Chairman)* (1/1)

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* (1/1)

Mr. Fu Tingmei* (1/1)

* Independent Non-executive Director

# Non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state
its authority and duties. A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and making recommendation to the Board on the
Group’s remuneration policy, the determination of specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management and making recommmendations to the Board the remuneration of non-executive Directors. It takes
into consideration on factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of Directors and senior management, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration. It may access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follow the requirements of the code provisions
of the CG Code, are posted on the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources related
decisions.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2010. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman)* (n)
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* (171
Mr. Wang Jinchang* (171

*

Independent Non-executive Director
# Executive Director

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the financial statements,
performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information and explanation to the
Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board for
approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the financial statements are prepared
on a “going concern” basis.

Ermnst & Young, the auditors of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The internal control system
has been designed to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. It should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in compliance with the relevant rules and regulations. The
Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of internal control system (including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions) of the Group. The Board considered that the internal control
system is effective and adequate and the Company has complied with the code provisions on internal control of the
CG Code.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhancing the efficiency of operational process and
improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

mggﬁg%ﬁﬂm An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December
ANALYSIS 2010 is set out as follows:

ERERLROMN

Services rendered Fee paid/payable
RMB’000
Audit services 1,750
Non-audit services* 707
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE Total 2,457

REPORT
EERGE

Such services included interim report review and compliance review relating to continuing connected transactions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with shareholders
of the Company and investors; and also recognizes the effective communication with investors is the fundamental

element to build up the shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.
DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR

MANAGEMENT The Company communicates with the shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules and press releases of the Company providing updated information of the Group;

BIERPEOCRTTO% THE (i) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the Company’s
FRERE and Stock Exchange’s website; and

(iv)  holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to time. There
is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders and general presentations are made when financial results
are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise enquiries
through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s website.

34 CPMC Holdings Limited




- : Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ Right

The Annual General Meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on 10 June 2011 (the “2011 AGM”) will
provide opportunities for the shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the management and the
external auditors. At the 2011 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and the chairman/member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will be available thereat to
answer questions from the shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, the Company should arrange the notice to shareholders to be sent in the case
of annual general meetings at least 21 clear days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 clear days in the case
of all other general meeting.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2011 AGM. The shareholders will
be allowed to have one vote for every share they held. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the meeting
and published on the website of the Stock Exchange and Company respectively.
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CORPORATE’S SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

We provide environmental packaging and world-decorating, life-embellishing and devoted services to our customers,
shareholders and employees. Contribution to the community is an important element in our corporate culture.
The Group strives to prevent environmental pollution, reduce energy consumption and waste discharge, promote
employment, and concern our employees’ living and development, as well as taking part in a variety of social welfare
activities.

1.

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is well aware of its social responsibility and is keen in enforcing work safety and environmental
protection. In 2010, the Group further enhanced its safety and environmental protection team, and
strengthened the organization and advanced the recruitment requirements. Six employees of the Group have
been awarded the State Certified Safety Engineer Certificates; six employees obtained the Certified Energy
Manager Certificates; and twelve employees were qualified as Internal Inspectors of Food Safety with valid
certificates issued by the COFCO.

We have established the respective indicators in areas of general safety management, production safety,
food safety, and energy-saving, in order to reinforce quantitative assessments and effectively procured our
subsidiaries and affiliated companies in their implementation of safety and environmental protection. At the
same time, the Group has perfected the systems for safety work and launched 10 other standard systems
including the Safety and Environmental Protection Accountability System, Administrative Measures for Safety
and Environmental Incidents, and Administrative Measures for Part-time Safety Officers during the year. In
addition, we have also perfected our food safety management system and established the Hazard Analysis
and Critical Control Point (“HACCP”) control standards suitable for food packaging products, and inspection
standards for raw materials and products.

There were no major accidents concerning environmental safety and protection or violation of laws taken
place within the Group in 2010. All the ratings of major accident and hazard correction, principal raw materials
and auxilliary materials and food products safety, and employee’s health all reached 100%. The major waste
discharge met the State’s current standards, and the general energy consumption value per RMB Ten
Thousand has decreased over 4% compared to 2009. During the year, the Group has been granted two
awards by the local government: Energy Saving Award for passing the Corporate Electricity Balance Test,
Energy Saving and Reduced Emission Award-Over 4% Decrease in Industrial Energy Consumption Value
Added per RMB Ten Thousand and Production Energy Consumption Value Added per RMB Ten Thousand.
Furthermore, the Group has saved the consumption of 300,000 cubic metres of natural gas and reduced
carbon emission by 56 tonnes per annum by utilizing domestically produced UV equipments in upgrading the
printing facilities.

CPMC Holdings Limited



: Corporate Governance Report

PROMOTING EMPLOYMENT TO ATTAIN WORK HARMONY

2010 was a year witnessing the Group’s rapid development, expansions by new constructions, mergers
and acquisitions progressed smoothly during the year. Regarding the human resources deployment, we
insisted on applying the principles of ‘best fit for the post’ and ‘people oriented’ and complied strictly with the
requirements of Labour Contract Law, Protection on Women’s Rights and Interests Law and other State and
local stipulations on labour recruitment. Staff from acquired company were retained and staff were recruited for
the newly built factories. We emphasis the labour relations to promote and maintain an harmonic environment
for employment. During the year, the Group’s recruited 2,052 staff, of whom 708 staff were retained from
newly acquired company. Our subsidiaries in Hangzhou has been granted the title as an ‘Advanced Enterprise
with Harmonious Labour Relations’ and the subsidiary in Wuhan has been granted the awards as ‘Advanced
Enterprise with Harmonious’ and ‘Advanced Home for Workers’ by the local government. The Group has
always devoted to creating a good working environment for staff, offering attractive remuneration and career
prospect as well as cultivating a caring atmosphere to improve the staff’s satisfaction.

INCREASING EMPLOYEES’ BENEFITS

The Group is always concerned about improving the benefits for the employees. Apart from full payments of
statutory social insurance for all employees and granting them statutory holidays, the Group has also taken
out supplementary accident and health insurance for the key employees, established and further extended the
annuity for staff, improved the benefits such as provision of meals and labour protection equipment etc. During
the year, the Group carried out a series of training programs to educate employees of occupational health
concerns, and established standard for employees to attend body examinations regularly. At the same time, we
also enhanced our clinic services, and constructed a health management information platform covering most of
our staff so that employees can more easily understand their personal health conditions. To improve the living
standard of retired staff, the Group has widened the scope of eligibility for employees to join our annuity plan;
thus, an additional 260 employees have benefited from the plan. In 2010, the Group spent a total amount of
RMB9 million on improving employees benefits.

CONCERNS FOR EMPLOYEES’ LIVING

The Group is very concerned about employees’ living including improvements of transportation arrangements,
offering meals, dormitories, staff activity rooms etc., in order to provide a comfortable working and living
environment for staff. Furthermore, we also organized all types of cultural, sports activities and games. These
included employee picnics, basketball games, tug-of-war competition, photo competition, singing competition,
etc. These activities attracted 1,200 participants, successfully enhanced the communication among staff and
strengthened their team spirit in addition to increasing their loyalty and sense of belonging towards the Group.
We also provided employees with updated information by running an internal television channel showing
programs such as CPMC news, and CPMC delicacies etc.
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5. CONCERNS FOR EMPLOYEES’ DEVELOPMENT

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND . ) o
ANALYSIS The Group places great emphasis on employees’ career development and on-job training. In 2010, the Group

has established a teaching-practice base to provide practical training for its staff through the cooperation with
Zhejiang University, Wuhan University, Zhejiang University of Technology, and other well-known universities.
The Group has also cooperated with vocational schools to promote training programs for skilled employees,
and regularly organized different types of professional training. During the year, we have arranged 2,441 training
sessions; 45,738 people have been trained and total training time reached 10,625 hours; and the training
expenses amounted to approximately RMB483,800. We have launched the ‘a bit learning, a bit progress’
activities for a total of 1,622 learning sessions and counted 4,174 times of progress. Through these activities
the Group’s culture has been actively promoted and motivated the staff’s sense of loyalty.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

RepoRT 6. CONTRIBUTION TO THE COMMUNITY, CARING FOR EMPLOYEES AND
ERRRERE HELPING THE DISADVANTAGED

The Group strengthened management innovation and shared the experiences with the industry . After more
than ten years of management innovation, the General Service Marketing Model created by CPMC has been
granted the Special Gold Award in the 4th China Management Innovation Forum Ceremony, held by Joint
Center for China Management Case and China’s top Management Review Publications, PKU Business Review.

The Group cares for its employees and members of the public who are in need, both within and outside the

g'EFLElgg(JRS AND enterprise. The Group has contributed a total amount of approximately RMB212,300 during the year 2010
MANAGEMENT through various forms of activities to show its love and care, including giving condolences to employees in
o difficulties, visiting retired employees, organizing fund-raising exercise for medical expenses for employees

injured in accidents, flag-raising ceremony at National Day, and fund-raising activities for earthquake-
affected areas etc. Furthermore, the Group is also planning to set up a poverty relief fund to contribute to the
development and construction in poverty areas.

REPORT OF THE
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WANG Jinchang XUE Guoping ZHANG Xin ZHOU Zheng

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

XUE Guoping, aged 60, was an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company during the financial year, and
resigned as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 16 January 2011. During his term, Mr. Xue was
primarily responsible for the overall management, major decision-making, strategic planning and business development of the
Group. He joined COFCO in August 1976 and the Group when he was appointed a Director on 23 June 2008. He has more than
30 years of experience in international trade and management, covering areas such as operations, manufacturing and logistics.
Mr. Xue has been a director and vice chairman of COFCO since April 1997 and has been responsible for overseeing the packaging
business unit since 2005 through participation in the decision-making process on matters related to its strategic planning and
investment projects. In addition, from July 1995 to March 2007, Mr. Xue was a director of China Foods Ltd. (“China Foods”).
Mr. Xue graduated from the College of International Business and Economics in Beijing (now known as University of International
Business and Economics) in 1976, with a major in Spanish.

WANG Jinchang, aged 56, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board effective from 16 January 2011. Mr. Wang is
primarily responsible for the overall management, major decision-making and business development and planning of the Group.
He joined COFCO in 1990 and has served as the deputy director and director of the general manager’s office, general manager of
the corporate department, as well as the chairman and general manager of COFCO Development Company Limited. He joined the
Group in December 2000, and has served as the chairman of various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wang was appointed a Director
on 23 June 2008 and has over ten years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Wang served as an assistant to the chairman
of COFCO since 2007, in charge of the packaging business. Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Hebei in 1978, with a major
in Mathematics.

ZHANG Xin, aged 48, is an executive Director and the general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for
the management of the Group’s daily operations. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was appointed a Director on
23 June 2008. Mr. Zhang has 18 years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in
Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong
University) in 1983 and a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern China in 2002. In 2005,
Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding contributions to
the development of engineering technology in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHOU Zheng, aged 48, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhou is primarily responsible for providing constant advice
and guidance at the strategic level over the business and operations of the operating subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Zhou joined
the Group in November 1994, and was appointed a Director on 23 June 2008. He has 15 years of experience in the packaging
industry. He has also been the general manager of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a member of COFCO Group listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since June 2008. He has been the deputy chairman of the Association of Packaging Technologies
of Zhejiang Province since 2000 and the China Packaging Federation since 2005. Mr. Zhou received a bachelor’s degree in
Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong
University) in 1983 and a master’s degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace Manufacturing Engineering from Beijing University of
Aeronautics & Astronautics in 1992. In 2007, Mr. Zhou was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of
the PRC for his outstanding contributions to the development of packaging industry in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.
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FU Tingmei HU Yonglei NING Gaoning SHI Wanpeng CHENG Yuk Wo

NING Gaoning, aged 52, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ning takes a supervisory role on the strategic and budget
planning of the Group. Mr. Ning joined COFCO in December 2004 and the Group when he was appointed a Director on 23 June 2008. He
has over 20 years of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business restructurings and governmental
relations. Mr. Ning has been the chairman of the board of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”) since January 2007, the
chairman of the board of COFCO (HK), China Foods and Top Glory International Holdings Limited and Wide Smart since January 2005,
and the chairman of the board of COFCO since December 2004. Prior to joining COFCO, he held various positions at China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited and its subsidiaries, including those of director, general manager and vice chairman of the board of directors.
Mr. Ning has been a non-executive director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since
August 2009; an independent director of Hua Yuan Property Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since October
2008; a director of Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from August 2008 to March 2011; and a non-
executive director of Lippo China Resources Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from December 1998 to August 2009. Mr.
Ning has also been a director of BOC International Holdings Limited since December 2003. He received a bachelor’s degree in Economics
from Shandong University in 1983, and a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of Pittsburgh in 1985.

HU Yonglei, aged 43, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for reviewing the financial reporting
procedures and internal control system of our Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO in 2005 and the Group when he was appointed a Director
on 23 June 2008. Mr. Hu has over 10 years of experience in investment management. Mr. Hu held the position as general manager of
strategic division of China Agri from March 2007 to April 2009. Currently, he is a deputy head of the strategy department and general
manager of the investment management division of COFCO. Mr. Hu is also a director of Dalian COFCO Malt Co., Ltd.. Mr. Hu also held
positions as director from December 2005 to August 2008 of China Resources (Jilin) Bio-chemical Co., Ltd. (now known as Xi’an Aero-
engine Plc), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Hu received a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Xi'an Jiaotong
University in 1989 and a master’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in 1992.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SHI Wanpeng, aged 74, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Shi was appointed a Director on 23 June 2008.
Mr. Shi has over eight years of experience in the packaging industry and several years of experience in economic management. Mr. Shi
has held the position of chairman of the China Packaging Federation since October 2003. He was a standing commissioner of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and an alternate member of the Central Committee of the Chinese
Communist Party and he had also served in various government departments. Mr. Shi has been an independent non-executive director
of China South City Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since September 2009, and an independent director of
Huabei Expressway Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2008. From April 2003 to May 2009, he
was also an independent non-executive director of China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
New York Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange. From June 2003 to September 2008, Mr. Shi was an
independent non-executive director of China Telecom Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and New York Stock
Exchange.

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 50, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Cheng was appointed a Director on 23 June
2008. Mr. Cheng is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, finance and business management. He has been the sole proprietor of Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in Hong
Kong since 1999. Mr. Cheng is currently an executive director of 21 Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director of each of
Capital Strategic Investment Limited, HKC (Holdings) Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation (formerly known as Chia Tai Enterprises International
Limited), Chong Hing Bank Limited, South China Land Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited and Imagi International Holdings Limited,
all being companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng received a bachelor’'s degree in Accounting from the University of Kent,
England in 1983 and a master’s degree in Accounting and Finance from the University of London, England in 1984.

FU Tingmei, aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fu was appointed a Director on 23 June 2008.
Mr. Fu has extensive experiences in investment, finance, law and business management. Between 1992 and 2003, he conducted many
corporate finance transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong, including serving as a director of Peregrine Capital
Limited, and a deputy managing director and subsequently a managing director of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu is currently
engaged in private equity investments business. He is currently also an independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings
Limited and Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited, both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the University of London
with a master’s degree and a doctorate degree in Law in 1989 and 1993, respectively.
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YANG Mu LIU Yeming QIAN Wenyang LV Qing FENG Ping

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

QIAN Wenyang, aged 51, is a deputy general manager of the Company, assisting the general manager with overall management
of the daily operation of the Group. Mr. Qian joined the Group in January 1997. He has nearly 14 years of management experience
in the packaging industry. Since June 2007, he has been a deputy general manager of Hangzhou CPMC. Since November 2005,
Mr. Qian has been the supervisor of CPMC (Chengdu). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qian served in the air force of the Chinese
People’s Liberation Army. Mr. Qian received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical Machinery Engineering from Air Force Engineering
College in 1985 and a master’s degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace Manufacturing Engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical
University in 1995. He is a senior engineer.

LIU Yeming, aged 39, is a deputy general manager of the Company in charge of the biochemical business, environmental
protection and production safety. Mr. Liu joined the Group in March 2008. He has over eight years of management experience
in the steel barrel business. Since March 2008, he has been a deputy general manager of Hangzhou CPMC. Mr. Liu received an
associate’s degree in International Trade from Beijing University of Technology in 1992.

YANG Mu, aged 44, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of the two-piece beverage can business of
the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in November 1994. He has 16 years of financial management experience in the packaging
industry. Since July 2007, he has been an assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC and the general manager of the
finance department of Hangzhou CPMC. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yang was the general accountant of Guangdong Nanhai
Southern Packaging Co., Ltd. and worked in the financial department of Hunan Zhuzhou Chemical Machinery Factory. Mr. Yang
received a degree in Industrial Accounting from Hunan Zhuzhou Metallurgical Industry Institute in 1989 (now known as Hunan
Metallurgical Professional Technology College) and completed a graduate program in Economics in the School of Economics of
Zhejiang University in 2000. He is a mid-level accountant.

LV Qing, aged 42, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of sales and marketing of the Group. Ms. Lv
joined the Group in January 1993. She has nearly 18 years of experience in sales and marketing in the packaging industry. She
has been an assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC and the general manager of the marketing center of Hangzhou
CPMC since July 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lv worked in Hangzhou Zhongce Rubber Co., Ltd. Ms. Lv obtained an
associate’s degree in Chemical Engineering from Zhejiang Radio & TV University in 1987 and a bachelor’s degree in Business
Management in 2002 from Zhejiang University.

FENG Ping, aged 45, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of human resources and administration.
Ms. Feng joined the Group in October 1997. She has 13 years of experience in the packaging industry. She has been an assistant
to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC and the general manager of the human resources department of Hangzhou CPMC
since July 2007. Ms. Feng obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering from Tsinghua University in 1989, and completed
the graduate courses in Management Science and Engineering in Zhejiang University in 2001.
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HUANG Jin SHI Yu CHENG Bincai ZHAO Wei CHAN Fan Shing ZHANG Ye

ZHANG Ye, aged 37, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of beverage can business of the Group.
Mr. Zhang joined the Group in July 1995. He has over 15 years of experience in the packaging industry. Since July 2009, he has
been an assistant to the general manager and the general manager of beverage can business division of Hangzhou CPMC. Mr.
Zhang received a bachelor degree in enterprise management from the School of Adult Continuing Education (currently known as the
School of Education) from Fudan University in 1999.

SHI Yu, aged 41, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of the cap business of the Group. Mr. Shi joined
the Group in November 1992. He has 18 years of experience in the packaging industry. Since July 2009, he has been an assistant
to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC, and general manger of Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi received a bachelor’s
degree in Scientific English from Tianjin University in 1992.

CHENG Bincai, aged 46, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of production operations. Mr. Cheng
joined the Group in June 1993. He has over 24 years of experience in the packaging industry. Since July 2009, he has been an
assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC and general manager of the production operation department of Hangzhou
CPMC. He is the general manager of technology center since January 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheng held various
positions including director of the production planning department, and director of the quality management department of
Hangzhou People’s Printing Factory. Mr. Cheng received a bachelor’s degree in Fine Chemistry from East China Chemical College
(now known as East China Science and Technology University) in 1986.

ZHAO Wei, aged 47, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of plastic container business. Mr. Zhao
joined the Group in May 1997. He has over 13 years of experience in the packaging industry. He was assistant to general
manager of CPMC and general manager of technology center since July 2009. He is the general manager of plastic container
business division since January 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao was a technician in the eighth branch company of Xi’an
Aeronautical Engine Company, an engineer in Xi’an Exploration Instrument Company, and chief engineer in Xi’an Taijing Furniture
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhao received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace Manufacturing Engineering
from Northwestern Polytechnical University in 1985 and 1991, respectively.

HUANG Jin, aged 43, is a general manager of the investment development department of the Group and in charge of investor
relations. Prior to joining the Company in May 2000, Ms. Huang was the manager of COFCO Industries division (718 & 3 f) and
a head and department manager of COFCO Beverage & Foodstuffs Imp & Exp Co., Ltd. She obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
International Business Administration from the University of International Business and Economics in June 1989, and completed an
in-service postgraduate course in Business Administration from the University of International Business and Economics in July 2002.

CHAN Fan Shing, aged 34, is the company secretary of the Company and the financial controller of the Group, responsible for
the financial management of the Company and the consolidation of financial statements of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in
September 2009. He has over ten years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. Before joining the Group,
Mr. Chan was the company secretary, qualified accountant and financial controller of a company listed on the Stock Exchange.
He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan received a bachelor’s degree in Business Accounting from the University of Glamorgan,
United Kingdom in 1999 and a master’s degree in Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2008.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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LI'Ya Kun YIN Xiao Yu YANG Xiao Yan GU Xiao Lei SU Qi Wei GAO Yu

LI Ya Kun, aged 57, is a general manager of the audit department of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li was a workshop
supervisor and a deputy factory director of Kunming Forestry Machinery Factory (BB Z#45 &), and a deputy general manager
of Wuxi United Liangchuan Tinplate Co., Limited (#&#%4t—12)!|5 R #AR A F]). He also held various positions including sales
controller, financial controller, deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager and general manager of Wuxi Huapeng
JDB Closures Co., Ltd. (#E$5ZEMEMNZBEREAR A F). In December 1990, Mr. Li was conferred the title of “Yunnan Outstanding
Youth Factory Director (Manager)” by the Economic Commission of Yunnan Province. Mr. Li received a bachelor’s degree in
Engineering from the Yunnan Institute of Technology (Z2F T &Fx) in 1982, and a master’s degree in Business Administration from
Tsinghua University in 1995.

YIN Xiao Yu, aged 38, is a general manager of the supply chain management department of the Group. Mr. Yin joined the Group in
2005. He has over 15 years of experience in sales, purchasing and investment. He has been a general manager of the supply chain
management department since January 2009. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yin held various positions including sales manager,
region product manager and a branch general manager of the Goodbaby Group. He obtained an associate’s degree in accounting
from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics and a master’s degree in Business Administration from Zhejiang University in 1994
and 2006, respectively.

YANG Xiao Yan, aged 41, is a general manager of the financial department of the Group. Ms. Yang joined the Group in 2002.
She has 17 years of experience in financial management. She has served as a general manager of the financial department of the
Group since 2009. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yang held various positions including an accountant of the financial department of
Hangzhou Qing Chun Bao Group and Hangzhou Dahe Thermal-magnetic Electronics, and the chief of finance section of Hangzhou
Tingyi International Food Co., Ltd. Ms. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Statistic from Hangzhou University in 1993 and
completed an in-service postgraduate course in accounting from Hangzhou Dianzi University in 2005.

GU Xiao Lei, aged 45, is a general manager of the beverage cans manufacturing department of the Group and a general manager
of Guangzhou Panyu MCP Co., Ltd. Mr. Gu joined our Group in 1995. He has 15 years of experience in packaging industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Gu worked for Zhejiang Aviation Society (#7/T & fin% 2 ) State-owned No.825 Factory (B1& /\ = F#). Mr.
Gu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Electronic Instrument Testing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology in 1989.

SU Qi Wei, aged 38, is a general manager of the integrated manufacturing department of the Group as well as Hangzhou COFCO-
MC. Mr. Su joined our Group in 1995. He has 15 years of experience in packaging engineering technology and management. He
obtained a master’s degree in Computer Sciences and Technology from Zhejiang University in 2005.

GAO Yu, aged 43, is a general manager of Hangzhou COFCO Canmaking Co., Ltd of the Group. Mr. Gao joined the Group in
1993. He has 17 years of experience in packaging industry engineering technology and management. He has held various positions
including executive deputy general manager and general manager of Hangzhou COFCO Canmaking Co., Ltd. since 2008. Mr. Gao
obtained a master’s degree in Chemical Engineering & Machinery from Zhejiang University in 1993.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2010.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the Company (“Shares”) at the time of its listing on the Stock
Exchange on 16 November 2009 and after the exercise of the over-allotment option on 19 November 2009,
amounted to approximately HK$1,141 million, which are intended to be or have been applied in accordance with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 2 November 2009 (the “Prospectus”). As at 31 December 2010 and in line with the plans as set out
in the Prospectus, the proceeds have been used as follows:

(i) approximately RMB305 million have been used for the construction of production facilities in CPMC (Wuhan) to
produce metal and plastic packaging containers;

(i)  approximately RMB88 million have been used for expanding the existing production facilities in CPMC
(Chengdu) for the production of beverage cans, food cans and printed and coated tinplates;

(i)  approximately RMB 38 million have been used for expanding the existing production facilities in Panyu MCP for
the production of plastic packing containers and printed and coated tinplates as well as for the construction of

logistics facilities and infrastructure;

(iv) approximately RMB 120 million have been used for upgrading the existing production facilities of plant and
equipment for energy saving, environmental protection and quality assurance;

(v)  approximately RMB96 million have been used for repaying bank loans; and
(vi)  approximately RMB77 million have been used for general working capital purposes.

The remaining un-utilised net proceeds is temporarily placed in short-term deposits with licensed banks in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company
are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as
of that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 121 to 197. The Directors recommended the payment
of a final dividend of RMB0.026 (equivalent to HK3.1 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31 December
2010. The dividend will be reflected as appropriations of retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2010. An
interim dividend of RMB0.025 (equivalent to HK2.9 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 15 October 2010 (2009:
Nil).

The proposed year 2010 final dividend will be distributed on or after Tuesday, 5 July 2011 to shareholders whose
names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Friday, 10 June 2011(the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice on Determination of Tax Resident Enterprises of Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises in accordance with Their De Facto Management Bodies” ( B8RS IMNEM R B He A 0 2 4k 1 B R i 3
WEZEETAEROCEBMMERNBE) ) (“Notice”), which was issued by the State Administration of Taxation
(the “SAT”) of the People’s Republic of China on 22 April 2009 and became effective on 1 January 2008, enterprises
controlled by Chinese enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall be regarded as resident
enterprises with de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered resident enterprises” (3E3% 1A
EE R4 %), provided that all of the following criteria are present or effected in China: (1) senior management

in charge of daily operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised departments regarding financial
management and human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books, seals, records and files of shareholders’
meetings or board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior management with 50% or more voting rights
ordinarily reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident
enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de facto management body of Chinese-
controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

Pursuant to the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC” (the “Enterprise Income Tax Law”) and the “Detailed
Rules for the Implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC” (the “Implementation Rules”), both
implemented in 2008, and the Notice, since the Company is a Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated Enterprises,
the Company is likely to be regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise and, if so, it could be required under the
Laws of the PRC to withhold and pay Enterprise Income Tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders to whom
the Company pays the proposed year 2010 final dividend. The withholding and payment obligation lies with the
Company.

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules, the Company is likely to be
required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2010 final dividend to its non-
resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of
members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate nominees
or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or organisations, which are all considered
as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute the proposed year 2010 final dividend after
deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not withhold and pay the income tax in respect of
the proposed year 2010 final dividend payable to any natural person shareholders whose names appear on the
Company’s register of members on the Record Date.
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If any resident enterprise (as defined in the Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s register of members
which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a PRC-based de
facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise income tax, it
should lodge with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited documents from its governing tax authority
confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend that
it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2011.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the register of
members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees. The Company will withhold
for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in accordance with the
relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and adhere strictly to the information set out
in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The Company assumes no liability whatsoever and will
not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or inaccurate confirmation of, the status of the shareholders or any
disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

In the event that the Company is not regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise and hence no enterprise income
tax should have been withheld, to the extent that such tax remains in the custody of the Company and so far as it is
able to do so, the Company will procure an amount equal to such tax withheld in respect of the relevant shareholders
to be paid to the relevant shareholders whose tax had been withheld. The Company would make a further
announcement in such event.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 198. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year are set
out in Note 14 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorized or issued share capital during the year.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of the
shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and key
employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any directors
(executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees of the Group
an option to subscribe for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme.

An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such offer
was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant
of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; or (i) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of Offer.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue on the date
when the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: () representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date
of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be subject to approval of the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) in general meeting taken on a poll.

As at the date of this report, the Company has not granted any option under the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended 31
December 2010.

RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to RMB20,166,000 as at 31 December 2010. In addition, the Company’s
share premium account, in the amount of RMB1,522,349,000 may be distributed in form of fully paid bonus shares.
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note 28(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2010, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
41.5% of the Group’s total sales. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 45.2% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2010.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. XUE Guoping (Chairman) (resigned as Executive Director and Chairman on 16 January 2011)
Mr. WANG Jinchang (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman on 16 January 2011)

Mr. ZHANG Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. ZHOU Zheng

Mr. HU Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. SHI Wanpeng

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Messrs. Wang Jinchang, Hu Yonglei

and Fu Tingmei will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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None of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company on the appointment date.
Commencing on 23 October 2009, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive Director
or independent non-executive Director for a term of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of these service
agreements and letters of appointment may be terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which cannot be terminated by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years as required by the Company’s Articles of
Association.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). The Company is of the view that all the independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 39 to 43 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract or arrangement of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the remuneration committee of the Company pursuant to the Company’s Article of Association with reference to
market conditions, directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors and employees of the Company are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2010, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
associates has any interest in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which will have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or chief executive of the
Company is deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register to be kept by the Company or which are required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

Approximate

Name of associated Number of Shares percentage of

Name of Director corporations Capacity (Note 1) shareholding
Mr. Ning Gaoning China Foods Limited Beneficial owner 880,000 (L) 0.03% (Note 2)
Mr. Ning Gaoning China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 700,000 (L) 0.02% (Note 3)
Mr. Hu Yonglei China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 500,000 (L) 0.01% (Note 3)
Notes:

(1) Long position in the underlying shares of the relevant company under share options granted pursuant to the share option scheme of

the relevant company.

2 The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Foods Limited in issue as at 31 December 2010, i.e.
2,792,459,756 shares.

) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited in issue as at 31
December 2010, i.e. 4,038,369,839 shares.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES DISCUSSION AND

ANALYSIS
ERERERAN
As at 31 December 2010, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:
Approximate
percentage CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
of aggregate  REPORT
Capacity and Number of interests in issued EREAES
Substantial shareholders Notes nature of interest shares held share capital *
Wide Smart Holdings Limited M &2 Registered owner 599,999,940 72.29%
(“Wide Smart”)
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (1) Registered owner 60 0%
(“COFCO (HK)”) M & Beneficial owner 600,000,000 72.29% DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
COFCO Corporation (1 &(3) Interest of controlled 600,000,000 72.29% PROFILEREPORT
g

(“COFCO”) corporations EBABMES

Notes:
(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company.
) Wide Smart is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). Wide Smart acts as a nominee shareholder holding 599,999,940 shares in

trust for COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore the beneficial owner of the 599,999,940 shares held by Wide Smart.
REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS
) COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in the Esems

600,000,000 shares in aggregate held by COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart.

* The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2010, i.e.,
830,000,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions
2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND

ANALYSS Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company

o

has maintained sufficient public float since the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 16 November 2009.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which are

connected persons of the Company under the Listing rules. These transactions are considered to be connected and

ég@ggﬁﬁga continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance with the

REEORT . requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of continuing connected transactions are as follows:

1. On 27 June 2008 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13
October 2010, CPMC (Hong Kong) Limited (“CPMC (HK)”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”) supply agreement with China
Agri (the “China Agri Supply Agreement”), an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO Corporation
(“COFCQ”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of CPMC (HK) will supply steel barrels to the subsidiaries of
China Agri according to the latter’s specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years

g‘ERNESLORS AND commencing on 27 June 2008. The China Agri Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between
MANAGEMENT the parties. Detail of the China Agri Supply Agreement was disclosed in the section headed “Connected

PROFILE
Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company

dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the steel barrels to be supplied to the subsidiaries of China
Agri in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB8,426,000 and RMB12,639,000, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the steel barrels supplied to the subsidiaries of
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
EZERs

China Agri under the China Agri Supply Agreement was approximately RMB5,854,000.

2. On 28 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13
October 2010, CPMC (HK) entered into the Northsea supply agreement (the “Northsea Supply Agreement”)
with COFCO Northsea Oils & Grains Industries (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Northsea”), an associate of China Agri,
pursuant to which the subsidiaries of CPMC (HK) will supply steel barrels to Northsea according to the latter’s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 28 October 2009. The
Northsea Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the Northsea Supply

Agreement was disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated
2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the steel barrels to be supplied to Northsea in 2010 and
2011 would not exceed RMB7,000,000 and RMB10,500,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the steel barrels supplied to Northsea under the
Northsea Agreement was approximately RMB5,719,000.
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On 28 November 2008 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties
on 13 October 2010, the Group entered into the China Foods supply agreement (the “China Foods Supply
Agreement”) with China Foods Limited (“China Foods”), whereby, among other things, the subsidiaries of
the Company will supply miscellaneous cans to the subsidiaries of China Foods according to the latter’s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2009. The
China Foods Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the China
Foods Supply Agreement was disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s
Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the miscellaneous cans to be supplied to the subsidiaries of
China Foods in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB6,000,000 and RMB7,800,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the miscellaneous cans supplied to the
subsidiaries of China Foods under the China Foods Agreement was approximately RMB4,660,000.

Pursuant to the China Foods Supply Agreement, the subsidiaries of the Company will supply, among other
things, crown caps to the various Coca-Cola beverage bottlers of China Foods according to the latter’s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2009 and
as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13 October 2010. Detail of
the China Foods Supply Agreement was disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the
Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October
2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the crown caps to be supplied to the Coca-Cola beverage
bottlers of China Foods in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB3,900,000 and RMB5,850,000, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the crown caps supplied to the Coca-Cola
beverage bottlers of China Foods under the China Foods Agreement was approximately RMB3,323,000.

On 28 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13
October 2010, the Company entered into the Tunhe supply agreement (the “Tunhe Supply Agreement”) with
COFCO Tunhe Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Tunhe”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company will supply
general food cans to COFCO Tunhe and its subsidiaries (“COFCO Tunhe Group”) according to the latter’s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 28 October 2009. The
Tunhe Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the Tunhe Supply
Agreement was disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated
2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the general food cans to be supplied to COFCO Tunhe
Group in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB7,560,000 and RMB40,000,000, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the general foods cans supplied to COFCO
Tunhe Group under the Tunhe Agreement was approximately RMB4,649,000.
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6. On 23 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on
Bﬂé’gﬁg%mm 13 October 2010, we entered into the Caoxian supply agreement (the “Caoxian Supply Agreement”) with
HNALTSS Caoxian COFCO Dabao Food Industry Co., Ltd. (“Caoxian COFCQ”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the
Company will supply twist caps to Caoxian COFCO according to the latter’s specifications and at prevailing
market prices for a term of three years commencing on 23 October 2009. The Caoxian Supply Agreement

o

may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the Caoxian Supply Agreement was disclosed in
the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the
announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the twist caps to be supplied to Caoxian COFCO in 2010
CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE and 2011 would not exceed RMB2,500,000 and RMB3,125,000, respectively.
REPORT

DEBRRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the twist caps cans supplied to Caoxian
COFCO under the Caoxian Agreement was approximately RMB1,105,000.

7. On 23 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on
13 October 2010, we entered into the Yongji supply agreement (the “Yongji Supply Agreement”) with Yongjii
COFCO Dabao Food Industry Co. Ltd. (“Yongji COFCQ”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company
will supply twist caps to Yongji COFCO according to the latter’s specifications and at prevailing market prices

g‘ERNﬁg;ORS AND for a term of three years commencing on 23 October 2009. The Yongji Supply Agreement may be renewed by
MANAGEMENT agreement between the parties. Detail of the Yongji Supply Agreement was disclosed in the section headed

PROFILE

“Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the
Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the twist caps to be supplied to Yongji COFCO in 2010 and
2011 would not exceed RMB1,200,000 and RMB1,800,000, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the twist caps cans supplied to Yongji COFCO

REPORT OF THE under the Yongji Agreement was approximately RMB567,000.
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f£3-E

54 CPMC Holdings Limited




T -y T =1 1 |1 Report of the Directors

Pursuant to the China Agri Supply Agreement, the subsidiaries of CPMC (HK) will supply rectangular cans
to East Ocean Oils & Grains Industries (Zhangjiagang) Co. Ltd. (“East Ocean”), according to the latter’'s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 27 June 2008 and
as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13 October 2010. The China
Agri Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the China Agri Supply
Agreement was disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated
2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the rectangular cans to be supplied to East Ocean in 2010
and 2011 would not exceed RMB1,500,000 and RMB2,250,000, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, there was no transaction between the Company and East Ocean
under the China Agri Agreement.

On 21 September 2010, the Company and COFCO Finance Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO, entered into the Financial Services Agreement. Detail of the Financial
Services Agreement was disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 21 September 2010.

Pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group the
following financial services for a term of three (3) years commencing on 1 November 2010, the date on which
the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:

(@) Deposit services

The maximum daily RMB deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with COFCO
Finance shall not exceed RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual cap were subject
to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b)  Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to which
COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees in connection with the
entrustment loan services; and (i) other financial services, including settlement services, forex trading
services and other related consultancy and agency services to be provided by COFCO Finance to the
Group under the Financial Services Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge handling fees in connection
with the entrustment loan services and the other financial services for a maximum annual cap not
exceeding RMBS miillion. The above entrustment loan services and the other financial services were
only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are exempt from the
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, there was no transaction of the deposit services, the entrustment

loan services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance under the
Financial Services Agreement.
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10. On 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the New China Foods Supply Agreement (the “New China

Bﬂé’gﬁg%mm Foods Supply Agreement “) with China Foods, pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company will supply
A two-piece beverage cans, other packaging materials and products (other than miscellaneous cans and

o

crown caps) and ancillary parts to the subsidiaries of China Foods according to the latter’s specifications and
prevailing market prices for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The annual cap for the
year ended 31 December 2010 was subsequently revised from RMB5,000,000 to RMB15,000,000 because
of the increase in demand for the two-piece beverage cans. The New China Foods Supply Agreement may be
renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the New China Foods Supply Agreement was disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 13 October 2010 and 8 December 2010 respectively.

CURPORATE The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the two-piece beverage cans, other packaging materials

GOVERNANCE
HEPoRT o and products (other than miscellaneous cans and crown caps) and ancillary parts to be supplied to China
S Foods in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB15,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the two-piece beverage cans, other packaging
materials and products (other than miscellaneous cans and crown caps) and ancillary parts supplied to the
subsidiaries of China Foods under the New China Foods Agreement was approximately RMB7,667,000.

11.  On 183 October 2010, the Company entered into the Fujian Tea Supply Agreement (the” Fujian Tea Supply
g‘ERNESEOP\S AND Agreement”) with Fujian Tea Imports and Exports Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Tea Company”), pursuant to which the
MANAGEMENT subsidiaries of the Company will supply miscellaneous cans, other packaging materials and products and
TPI-RQFJLE ancillary parts to the Fujian Tea Company according to the latter’s specifications and prevailing market prices

for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The Fujian Tea Supply Agreement may be
renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the Fujian Tea Supply Agreement was disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the miscellaneous cans, other packaging materials and

products and ancillary parts to be supplied to Fujian Tea Company in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed

REPORT OF THE RMBS500,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively.
DIRECTORS

EEERE
For the year ended 31 December 2010, there was no transaction between the Company and Fujian Tea
Company under the Fujian Tea Supply Agreement.
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On 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the COFCO Innovative Foods Supply Agreement (the “COFCO
Innovative Foods Supply Agreement”) with COFCO Innovative Foods (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (‘COFCO Innovative
Foods”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company will supply twist caps, other packaging materials
and products and ancillary parts to COFCO Innovative Foods according to the latter’s specifications and
prevailing market prices for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The COFCO Innovative
Foods Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Detail of the COFCO Innovative
Foods Supply Agreement was disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the twist caps, other packaging materials and products and
ancillary parts to be supplied to COFCO Innovative Foods in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB1,200,000
and RMB7,200,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the aggregate value of the twist caps, other packaging materials and
products and ancillary parts supplied to the COFCO Innovative Foods under the COFCO Innovative Foods
Supply Agreement was approximately RMB705,000.

On 18 October 2010, the Company entered into the COFCO Tech Supply Agreement (the “COFCO Tech
Supply Agreement”) with COFCO Tech Bioengineering (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Tech”), pursuant to which
the subsidiaries of the Company will supply steel barrels, other packaging materials and products and ancillary
parts to COFCO Tech according to the latter’s specifications and prevailing market prices for the period from
13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The COFCO Tech Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement
between the parties. Detail of the COFCO Tech Supply Agreement was disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the steel barrels, other packaging materials and products
and ancillary parts to be supplied to COFCO Tech in 2010 and 2011 would not exceed RMB500,000 and
RMB3,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, there was no transaction between the Company and COFCO Tech
under the COFCO Tech Supply Agreement.
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions numbered 1
to 13 for the year ended 31 December 2010 and confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties, and

3. inaccordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected transactions
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 34 to the audited financial statements also constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules which are
required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

No Directors are considered to have interests in any business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that
of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2010.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2010.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Friday, 10 June 2011.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 3 June 2011 to Friday, 10 June 2011 (both
dates inclusive). In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the forthcoming annual general
meeting, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2011. The
recommended final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting for payment on or after Tuesday, 5 July 2011.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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-1 Independent Auditors’ Report

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

To the shareholders of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CPMC
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 121 to 197, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report s

B ZBETHRE

Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor,

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street,

Central

Hong Kong

30 March 2011
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kI ' Consolidated Income Statement
it e N ES R

2010 2009 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 AUB‘ETFPORRSTY
it AREET T AREFIT By RE
REVENUE WA 5 3,416,691 3,066,145
Cost of sales SHERK AN 6 (2,890,984) (2,601,081)
Gross profit EF 525,707 465,064
Other income and E AU A Rz
gains - net —F%E 5 67,192 11,860 CONSOLIDATED
Selling and marketing expenses  $58& K & $5% (140,959) (117,832) STATEMENT
Administrative expenses 1T EH (159,040) (139,195) FalER
Finance costs — net B &R — F5 7 (6,699) (38,646)
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX FRETS#ATRIE 6 286,201 181,251
Income tax expense FriS i 10 (67,882) (27,410)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERE 218,319 153,841
Attributable to: FEAG (S)(T)VA\ITSEO'\;IEDNATTE[;
Equity holders of the Company RABIRAFEFEA 11 212,273 146,873 COMPREHENSIVE
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR R 6,046 6,968 L lI’\LCQMEE
FE EENAR
218,319 153,841
EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO AATEBER
ORDINARY EQUITY BAREFEEA
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY FELEREAER 13
Basic and diluted EAREE RMBO0.26 RMBO0.23 e
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
- s N BARBRAE
Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are FEEMNKRE MR EFF BN R E
disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements. BT 123 ETTHEE -
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BAREEDR
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income ‘ ||
FEEHEWRAF S

INDEPENDENT 2010 2009
S\EESF%RS’ Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BN Rzt AR¥T T AREBFIT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND FERIK
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE #HEEEKA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 218,319 153,841
Attributable to: FE(L
Equity holders of the Company KABIRRAEFEE A 11 212,273 146,873
Non-controlling interests eI 6,046 6,968
CONSOLIDATED
INCOME
S 218,319 153,841

V=YN[2
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
RE2ERAR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

mRMBIRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN

'1 22 CPMC Holdings Limited & {8 B8R AR A &




1

' ||Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

As at 31 December 2010
20106 12 A31H

2010 2009
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AREET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MR 14 1,605,411 1,318,615
Land use rights T R 15 109,158 95,871
Deposits for purchase of items of B EME - BEM
property, plant and equipment Bk 12,665 17,222
Goodwill EES 16 59,753 1,809
Other intangible assets HEiEREE 17 6,264 6,944
Deferred tax assets EEFTSRE E 26 12,352 21,185
Prepayments, deposits and AR Ze Rk
other receivables H b IR 21 61,349 874
Total non-current assets RIERBNEE 1,866,952 1,462,520
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Inventories FE 19 605,366 454,919
Trade and bills receivables B 5 ek I e M R i 20 635,885 451,997
Prepayments, deposits and AR Ze Kk
other receivables H b U R 21 315,610 177,799
Pledged deposits [REEwGIVES N 22 47,281 104,509
Cash and cash equivalents HE MBS EEBY 22 481,172 1,017,412
Total current assets BREEE 2,085,314 2,206,636
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables B S ENR R ENEE 23 691,379 537,968
Other payables and accruals HAb R R ERTIA B 24 255,300 241,093
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ #HESRTTIE R 25 520,318 639,094
Tax payable FEHFIIR 27,171 5,586
Total current liabilities LREIaE 1,494,168 1,423,741
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEETHE 591,146 782,895
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES BMEERRBEE 2,458,098 2,245,415
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" ‘I L] J I
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ™ ! ' 1 il ! 1 | 11T
%éﬂjﬁﬂj{;‘ﬂ,ﬁ As at 31 December 2010
R 2010612 A31 8
INDEPENDENT 2010 2009
AUDITORS' Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR¥T T AREFIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES WEERGINERE 2,458,098 2,245,415
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Deferred tax liabilities FRLEAMSTHAE 26 4,453 2,795
Government grants BT A7 B 9,522 9,529
Other payables E Tk 29 40,000 =
CONSOLIDATED Finance lease payables EEHEET R 2,973 -
INCOME
STATEMENT
Al Total non-current liabilities wIERBAE 56,948 12,324
Net assets FEE 2,401,150 2,233,091
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to equity RARIREFFEA
holder of the Company FE(G#Ea
Issued capital BT 27 73,080 73,080
Reserves f#H 28(a) 2,227,933 2,058,125
CONSOLIDATED f Vi =N =
e Proposed final dividend BURAREM S 12 21,580 29,375
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME 2,322,593 2,160,580
B Non-controlling interests I i e 78,557 72,511
Total equity LERERS 2,401,150 2,233,091
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
BARBRRE
WANG Jinchang ZHANG Xin
T&£E RE
Director Director
EZE Ea
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN

EQUITY
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. .-Gonsolidated Statement of Changes in Equ

Year ended 31 December 2010
HZ=2010F12 A31 BILFE

ity
=

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AOTBAREARE
Proposed Non-
Issued Capital ~ Statutory  Retained final controlling
capital  reserves  reserves profits dividend interests Total
GEG) EX EE B% B Total 2R equity
k& e it ME RERR ait 5 fEs
Note ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi AR®Tn ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETr ARETR ARETR ARBTR
As at 1 January 2009 200951 A1A - 82125 6,037 262,091 - 1,10283 65,543 1,175,796
Total comprehensive EE2R
income for the year hiaes - - - 146873 - 146873 6968 153,841
Transfer from share s
prermium b 5288 (528%) - - - - - -
Issug of shares e 20252 1071279 - - - 1,091,531 - 1,091,531
Share issue expenses Rh#ER - (93,077) - - - (93,077) - (93077)
2009 interim alvicend 20005HHRE 12 - - - (95000 - (95000 - (9000
Proposed 2009 final iR 20005
dividend AHRE 12 - - - (931 29375 - - -
Appropriation to the HHEEE
statutory reserves - - - 1279 (12799 = - = =
Asat 31 December 2009 72000512 314
and 1 January 2010 R2010E1A1A 73,080 1,767,499 18,836 271,790 29315 2,160,580 72511 2,233,001
Total comprehensive ER2E
income for the year haes - - - 2213 - 212218 6,046 218,319
2009 final cividend declared 2009 KA S 12 - - - - (29,375) (29,375) - (29,375)
2010 interim clividend 10ERHRE 12 - - - (20,885) - (20,885) - (20,885)
Proposed 2010 final BiR2010E
dhidend RERS 12 - - - (15800 21,580 - - -
Appropriation to the AEAT
statutory reserves B - - 10828  (10,828) - - - -
Asat 31 December 2010 2010512 A318 73,080 1,767,499 20664*  430,770* 21580 2,322,593 78557 2,401,150

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

RMB2,227,933,000 (2009: RMB2,058,125,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

ZEFIE IR B B AR A B Bt R AR
B IFEE A K 2227,933,0007T (2009 4 :

ARE#2,058,125,000T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows || |..

= AI :2: = Year ended 31 December 2010
v E. M7 J)ILER BZE2010412 831 BILFRE

CONSOLIDATED 2010 2009
(S:ZQLE::'_S"‘JSOF Notes RMB’000 RMB’OOP
SARSTBR Mzt AR¥T T AREBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HERE
Profit before tax: BRASAIAE 286,201 181,251
Adjustments for: FHEE
Finance costs BE A 7 17,532 34,593
Interest income F B 7 (4,140) (1,830)
Write-back of other payables H A & A< R K ) 5 (14,618) (4,816)
STATEMENT Loss/(gain) on disposal of items
PoSION. of property, plant and HEWE - BE R
R equipment = (Was) BB 5 252 (115)
Depreciation e 6 96,109 74,616
Recognition of land
use rights - Hb {5 R4 2 TR 6 2,605 2,510
Amortisation of other
intangible assets H A & RS 6 1,242 1,096
Impairment of
trade receivables B S UG &
S and other receivables HE ORI E 6 7,119 3,142
FINANCIAL Reversal of provision
STATEMENTS against inventories FERERR 6 (1,688) (117)
R Foreign exchange B (W),
(gains)/losses, net [E5i8 558 7 (9,768) 1,545
380,846 291,875
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 77 & (3&70), & 4> (129,485) 106,308
(Increase)/decrease in ZZRWORL
trade receivables (35m) (143,251) 116,349
Increase in prepayments, deposits TSR &4 M E A
FIVE-YEAR and other receivables FEWIRR 2 380 (136,364) (16,756)
FINANCIAL Decrease/(increase) in BEAFEZORLD
SUMMARY i
REBTREE pledged deposits (3 0) 73,864 (65,060)
Increase/(decrease) in trade =l AN
and bills payables FETRIBIE I, CRi ) 138,607 (39,649)
(Decrease)/increase in other E MR
payables and accruals fE& CRid), /18 hn (5,278) 85,096
Decrease in government grants DEdiSE Ly ) (207)
Cash generated from operations A& E 4 2 IR 7R 178,932 487,956
Interest paid BEATFE (17,532) (34,593)
Mainland China tax paid B ERIA (38,030) (31,546)
Net cash flows from KL EBESE
operating activities ZIRERFEE 123,370 421,817
'1 2 6 CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)




IR | 111" Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2010 %éfﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
HZ=2010F12 A31 HILFE

2010 2009 CONSOLIDATED
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 STATEMENT OF
Wizt ARBTT ARETFIT el
CASH FLOWS FROM REREFTE 2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HERE
Interest received 2 U A 8 4,140 1,830
Purchases of items of property, BEVE  BE
plant and equipment NE (334,938) (356,604)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - M= KRR E
property, plant and equipment Fif8 508 3,863 4,556
Deposit for an investment FEIEEEEIES (59,056) = STATEMENT
Additions to prepaid land use rights TE 1 1-3t {5 F 435 N 15 (15,892) (22,359) iy
Additions to other intangible assets E b2 & E 1N 17 (562) (166) R
Acquisition of a subsidiary BA—RETAF 29 (54,386) =
Net cash flows used in KEESFERZ
investing activities R (456,831) (372,743)
CASH FLOWS FROM METERELEN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BHERE
Proceeds from issue of shares R EEATPTIS OB - 1,091,531
Share issue expenses RIDEITER - (93,077) NOTE%X%&E
Bank loans IRITER 789,935 2,028,903 STATEMENTS
Other loans from COFCO REFRIBHERET PR
Finance Corporation Limited ANRI([HEI])
(“COFCO Finance”) EMER - 140,000
Other loans from COFCO (Hong ~ REFRESEMER
Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") - 169,129
Repayment of bank loans BERFTER (952,222) (2,134,611)
Repayment of other loans EEP IR
from COFCO Finance EMER - (140,000)
Repayment of other loans EBEHPEEE FIVE-YEAR
from COFCO (HK) HtE® - (199,395) e
Dividends paid EREE 12 (50,260) (95,000) R RS

Net cash flows (used in)/from BMEEB(FER) EEZ
financing activities REMFE (212,547) 767,480
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows | - || ! i
LA EFEBIR  Yearended 31 December 2010
HZE2010F 12 A1 AILEE
2010 2009
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR%ET T ARET T
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE B &RIREZEY
IN CASH AND CASH CR2), /B8
EQUIVALENTS (546,008) 816,554
Cash and cash equivalents at FUHES MRS
beginning of year ZEY 1,017,412 202,403
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net RSB &F5E 9,768 (1,545)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR FRASRESEEY 481,172 1,017,412
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH ReRESEEY
EQUIVALENTS F s ki
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHE 22 481,172 1,017,412
Cash and cash equivalents ReamEx
as stated in the statement el 2IRe K
of cash flows REFEY 481,172 1,017,412

CPMC Holdings Limited F & & 22 i B BR A Al
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31 December 2010
2010412 31 H

.1 Statement of Financial Position

BrEE iR R

Notes 2010 2009
it RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI BB R 14 364 465
Investments in subsidiaries RTRARNKE 18 1,916,160 1,414,608
Total non-current assets BIERENE E 1,916,524 1,415,073
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from a subsidiary eI —FEF R RI5KIE 18 102,504 35,720
Prepayments, deposits and AR Ze Rk
other receivables H i U R 21 804 1,454
Cash and cash equivalents He MBS EEBY 22 7,258 566,046
Total current assets BREEE 110,566 603,220
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Due to a subsidiary B —EFARKIE 18 - 35,808
Other payables and accruals HAb B R R EETIA B 24 7,957 7,611
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ #HESRTTIE R 25 418,147 343,387
Total current liabilities BREIBE 426,104 386,806
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ RBEE
(LIABILITIES) (BE) B4 (315,538) 216,414
Net assets FEE 1,600,986 1,631,487
EQUITY R
Issued capital BRI TIAR 27 73,080 73,080
Reserves e 28(b) 1,506,326 1,529,032
Proposed final dividend R R HARR B 12 21,580 29,375
Total equity e 1,600,986 1,631,487
WANG Jinchang ZHANG Xin
F£8 R
Director Director
EZE BEE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT RS SRR M aE

2.1

31 December 2010
2010412 31 H

Corporate information

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16 November 2009,
the Company listed its shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at 33/F, Top Glory
Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing of
packaging products including beverage cans, food cans,
aerosol cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel
barrels and plastic packaging in Mainland China.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (HK), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong. In the opinion of the directors,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is COFCO
Corporation (“COFCQO”), which is a state-owned enterprise
registered in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA’), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2010. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balance, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)

2.1

NEEH

FREREBEZEBRERAR(ARF ]
T REBBEMAIZNEREETA
A o ARAT ARG R 2009F 11 A 16
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 20170 (continued)
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been
applied on a prospective basis. The following differences,
however, are carried forward in certain instances from the
previous basis of consolidation:

° Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the
non-controlling interest until the balance was reduced
to nil. Any further excess losses were attributable to the
parent, unless the non-controlling interest had a binding
obligation to cover these. Losses prior to 1 January 2010
were not reallocated between non-controlling interest
and the parent shareholders.

e Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of net
asset value at the date control was lost. The carrying
amount of such investment at 1 January 2010 has not
been restated.
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2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure
(continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised), and amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKAS 17 included in Improvements to HKFRSs
2009, the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
HKFRSs are as follows:

@)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and HKAS
27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in
the accounting for business combinations that affect
the initial measurement of non-controlling interests, the
accounting for transaction cost, the initial recognition and
subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration
and business combinations achieved in stages. These
changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognised,
the report results in the period that an acquisition occurs,
and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore,
such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will
it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised
standard changes the accounting for losses incurred
by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a
subsidiary. Consequential amendments were made to
various standards, including, but not limited to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes,
HKAS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS
31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards
are applied prospectively and affect the accounting of
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with non-
controlling interests after 1 January 2010.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments results
in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact
on the Group. Details of the key amendments most
applicable to the Group are as follows:
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements
to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies
and clarifying wording. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and
HKAS 27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2010, whereas the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7, HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRC)-Int 13 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although
there are separate transitional provisions for each standard.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

G Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. The Group considers that these new and revised
HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued
share capital or controls the composition of its board of
directors; or over which the Company has a contractual right
to exercise a dominant influence with respect to that entity's
financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company's investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in
which the Group and the other parties have an interest.

2.3
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the
duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets
are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits or losses
from the joint venture's operations and any distributions
of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in
proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in
accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@ a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly, controls
more than half of its voting power or issued share capital
or controls the composition of its board of directors;
or over which the Company has a contractual right to
exercise a dominant influence with respect to the joint
venture’s financial and operating policies;

(o) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or
joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not
less than 20% of the joint venture’s issued share capital
and is in a position to exercise significant influence over
the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture's issued share capital and
has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise
significant influence over, the joint venture.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations not under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date
fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivative in host contracts by the acquiree.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at
the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
which is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured
until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or group of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after
1 January 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which
were applied on a prospective basis, the following differences

applied to business combinations prior to 1 January 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the
purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-
controlling interest was measured at the proportionate share

of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Any additional acquired share of

interest did not affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract by the acquire were note
reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination
resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would

have been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the
Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was
more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.
Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were

recognised as part of goodwill.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and goodwiill),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the income statement in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the income statement
in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (i) has an interest
in the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (i) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or any of its holding companies;
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Related parties (continued)
(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d); or

() the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or
indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

(@ the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into account
its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated useful lives
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 - 30 years
Machineries and equipment 12 — 20 years
Vehicles 5 years
Electronic equipment, office

equipment and fixtures 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the income statement in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machineries and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8 years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable to
the customer base or existing contractual bids with customers
acquired as a result of business combination. The amount is
amortised over the estimated useful life of 5 years.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
account for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide
a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the income statement on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Land use rights under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired;

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the income statement.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position fif,
and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in
active markets is determined by reference to quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no
active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm's length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the income statement
by way of a reduced depreciation charge. Government grants
received where the attaching conditions have not yet been
fulfilled are recognised as liabilities.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@ from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods
sold;

(o) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Employee benefits

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, each of
the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required to participate in
a retirement benefit scheme organised by the local municipal
government whereby the Group is required to contribute
a certain percentage of the salaries of its employee to the
retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to pay the
ongoing required contributions. Contributions made to the
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged to
the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Pension Scheme

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section
of the statement of financial position, until they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi, which
is the Company's functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Renminbi. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Company at
the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period
and their income statements are translated into Renminbi
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in retained profits.
On disposal of a foreign operation the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into Renminbi
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to be
retained by the relevant subsidiaries. As at 31 December
2010, the deferred tax liabilities arising thereon amounted to
RMB2,121,000 (2009: RMB1,460,000) (Note 26).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2010
was RMB59,753,000 (2009: RMB1,809,000). Further details
are given in Note 16.

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has net deferred tax assets
of RMB12,352,000 (2009: RMB21,185,000) and deferred tax
liabilities of RMB4,453,000 (2009: RMB2,795,000). To the
extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences will be utilised,
deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences
arising from impairment provisions of property, plant and
equipments, inventories and receivables, decelerated tax
depreciation and amortisation, certain accrual items and
unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised
tax losses at 31 December 2010 was RMB18,547,000 (2009:
RMB27,894,000). Further details are contained in Note 26 to
the financial statements.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering each asset’s remaining life. Cash flows applying
to each asset’s remaining life are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does
not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the
packaging businesses in which the cash-generating units
operate.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
18.1% ~ 17.6%

0% ~ 5%
10.8% ~ 12.6%

e Gross margins
e  Growth rates
e Discount rates after tax

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and its expectations for market
development. The weighted average growth rates used are
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The
discount rates used are after-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant segments.
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MR2010F12 318 » KEEAFFELT
HIEEE AR 12,352,0007T (2009
£ AR#21,185,0007T ) K IE iE Fi
58 & AR 4,453,000 7T (2009 £E :
ARBE2795,0007T) ° BELEFRTBE &
TishE - BEREHE TERER
FoOEBBIENTE R - BT RER
T B R ARERRGEIRET 2R E R
BEEGRHEZERER  EERRR]
BE A FE RR B A B 4K 40 1) 060 e B 1 =
EER -

FIRA R LA B SHY & 2R B AR 2k K
HNEENRER - EBRFTE AT AH
REEERERAECHBEEE &5 2
I B8 F K 2 F) HIET SR 51 R SR B
RBRFERENBFEMSEE  £455
FREBIRRE - DURTEEERAIRLER
IHEEMSD T R2010F 12 A 31
H AEINBBEBRSEAAR
#18,5647,0007C (20094 : A R ¥
27,894,0007T) ° B L1515k
FHIFE26 ©

Y ~ B R A RE
BRERBIM S HRA 2.4 PRSI
SRR 8FARAEDE BER
REREGRE - REEEBEMA]HE
SRIRBEREFE - WETERE
BEBHHESREERGAERAFR
R BERE RERIGEITIREIR
R - EANGIEEERSRAEASF
B2\ RERR T RIIRA B
RUEEGAHEER - ZERXWIRE
HERCELBELHNEEETR
HIF g RE -

HEMEBEFENERRR

o FFIE 13.1%~17.6%
o MEEX 0%~5%
o MBITIRE 10.8%~12.6%

EEERBBERRUREHMISHE
ROBHIREBEENEX - A2
INHE 38 R 3 81T K S o TR RIA
KRB - FRAZTRESHRERL R
RERIARE D B 2 IR o
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4. Operating segment information 4. RENEEE
CONSOLIDATED
ELQ\THE'F\[%NMJQOF For management purposes, the Group is organised into FEEmMs  ANEEKRAEEDRRS
ABSHER business units based on their products and services and has M EREN AT\ E2HRE
eight reportable operating segments as follows: EoEp
(@) Beverage cans — engages in manufacturing and sale (@ FHE-—NE=RFHRESOHRE
of three-piece beverage tinplate cans and two-piece L R SR R B s M EHE o
beverage aluminium cans. Three-piece beverage tinplate SESRENEEIEAN B
cans are primarily used for packaging tea drinks, protein R EEASRE - BEE R
drinks, energy drinks, congees, fruit and vegetable juices JNES ~ BRI R IEEER G o W
and coffee drinks. Two-piece beverage aluminium cans FEOEHRTE B R R B ERBEAR
STATEMENT are primarily used for packaging carbonated drinks, beer 2 I IPNEAS/ G
OF FINANCIAL and tea drinks;

POSITION

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
RIS HRMIE

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
nERBHE

154

(b) Food cans — engages in manufacturing and sale of milk
powder cans mainly for packaging milk powder, nutrition
powder and seasonings; and general food cans mainly
for packaging processed fruit, vegetables, meat and
seafood;

(c) Aerosol cans — engages in manufacturing and sale of
aerosol cans mainly for packaging household chemical
products, such as air fresheners, personal care products
and insecticides and other chemical products, such as
auto-care products and construction glues;

(d) Metal caps - engages in manufacturing and sale of
twist caps mainly for glass jars to pack vegetables, fruit
and seasonings; crown caps for bottles of beer, Coca-
Cola beverages and other drinks; and easy-open ends
for three-piece beverage cans and two-piece beverage
cans;

(e) Printed and coated tinplates — engages in manufacturing
and sale of printed and coated tinplates for other
manufacturers to produce metal containers, batteries,
other electrical items and electrical appliances, such as
rice cookers;

() Steel barrels — engages in manufacturing and sale
of 200-liter or larger steel barrels for bulk edible olil,
fruit juice, jam, fragrance and flavoring substances for
industrial use and lubricating oil;

() Plastic packaging — engages in manufacturing and sale
of plastic packaging for milk bottles, shampoo bottles,
plastic device of electronic products, daily use hardware,
package printing, sports drink bottles and related plastic-
made products; and

(h) Others — engages in manufacturing and sale of mainly
rectangular cans, miscellaneous cans for small-pack
edible oil, alcohol, tea, solid food, such as cookies,
confectionary and chocolate, stationery and toys.

CPMC Holdings Limited #8851 A% B R A F)
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4. Operating segment information (continued)

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on revenue, as explained in
the table below.

4.
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e RER (8)

EEEEBEREH D B /(
LB IR B R RIBFAIELIRE ©
ERRB IR R T TRE ?ziz—l—i\%ﬁfruo

Group

rEE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBFIT

Beverage cans Sk 1,554,639 1,541,045
Food cans RmiE 258,494 214,598
Aerosol cans R 316,493 284,040
Metal caps eB= 641,806 544,719
Printed and coated tinplates E1 88 174,867 172,302
Steel barrels il 193,821 161,496
Plastic packaging BRBEK 125,331 23,562
Others HAtb 151,240 124,383

3,416,691 3,066,145

Information about major customers BRERAENEEEFNER

Revenue of approximately RMB1,418,960,000 (2009:
RMB1,592,665,000) was derived from the top five major
customers.

RERAAMNEEEFHBRAHDAR
#1,418,960,000 7T (2009 FF : AR
1,592,665,0007T) °
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Eﬁ%iﬁﬁf‘ﬁﬁi 31 December 2010

2010612 A31H

5. Revenue, other income and gains - net 5.

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns
and trade discounts during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains-net is as

——m

WA~ AR W —
WA - TREIAEEE LR - FHFER
PEEmMMBERFE  KRMBERER
B0

ATRAEERA - HEMKRARIK

follows: m— FREN AT
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Revenue A
Sale of goods HEEm 3,416,691 3,066,145
Other income HAg A
Government grants* BT f > 48,157 14,289
Gains - net Was — &
(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of HEWE - BE RE&E
property, plant and equipment (B518), M (252) 115
Write-back of other payables H At e SRR 14,618 4,816
Other gains/(losses) Habezs,/(E518) 4,669 (7,360)
19,035 (2,429)
67,192 11,860

* The government grants are granted by the local authority to
support local companies. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

CPMC Holdings Limited A& & 22 i B BR A Al
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6. Profit before income tax 6. PBRETBFAIFE
CONSOLIDATED
The Group's profit before income tax is arrived at after REERRFTERAAE &R, (5 ST@;&ME&%
charging/(crediting): AN)ATIBEBER : AR A
Notes 2010 2009
HizE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Cost of inventories sold BHEFREKA 2,892,672 2,601,198
Reversal of provision
against inventories TFERERD (1,688) (117) STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
Sy POSITION
Cost of sales SHEA 2,890,984 2,601,081 BN
Depreciation e 14 96,109 74,616
Recognition of land use rights T #{# FA#E9RER 15 2,605 2,510
Amortisation of other
intangible assets HAih\ & e 17 1,242 1,096
Minimum lease payments KEHETEF
under operating leases for kR E& &K
buildings and warehouses e FE 12,220 9,810
Auditors' remuneration BTN & 2,457 2,199 NOTES TO THE
Provision for impairment B S EWGR K snF\ITNEwE(;:IT“s'
of trade receivables H ftn FEUGR SARRME
and other receivables B 7,119 3,142
Employee benefits
expense (including EEENER
directors' remuneration): (BREEME)
Wages and salaries TERFS 216,581 184,332
Pension scheme
contributions RREFT IR 18,891 19,664
Other benefits HiAaH) 25,999 14,789 B—
FINANCIAL
261,471 218,785 riﬂvhﬂ
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7. Finance costs - net 7. MIBER - R
CONSOLIDATED
ELQTHEMEONV;SOF An analysis of finance costs is as follows: T AFHEERSHT :
BARSRER
Group
REE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Interest on: A
STATEMENT Bank loans wholly repayable ERAFAEH
OF FINANCIAL within five years EEMIRITER 17,532 34,053
S Loans from COFCO Finance KETREYBHER - 2,475
Total interest expense @R EFRX 17,532 36,528
Less: Interest capitalised B BEAEFE - (1,985)
17,532 34,593
Other finance costs: HuBER :
Bank charges RITER 3,075 4,338
Net foreign exchange P H (Uezs),~
NOTES T0 THE (gains)/losses E518F R (9,768) 1,545
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
HHHRME Total finance costs wBET % E A 10,839 40,476
Finance income — Interest income PEWA-RE RIEE
on cash and cash equivalents ZEWHFEWA (4,140) (1,830)
6,699 38,646
8. Directors’ remuneration 8. EEM=
FIVE-YEAR Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to FESEEML IRBETERERSD
o the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock AR A %ﬁ?iﬁ?ﬁ EUPS &N
RENKEE Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Section 161 of the Hong 1&FIZE 161 BT ¢
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
AEHE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Fees wE
Independent non-executive directors BYIEMITES 346 99
346 99
Other emoluments: L Ath 57 M
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥7& -~ 32BE M ZTEEF] 711 664
Performance related bonuses FIRAEFICAL 497 231
Pension scheme contributions RIS FT B 63 116
1,271 1,011
1,617 1,110

'1 58 CPMC Holdings Limited F & & 22 i B BR A Al




8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 B} FE 3R 3| Bﬁ%}
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8. ExM< (&)

(@) BIUFHITES
FANTEILFRTEENES

during the year were as follows: (N
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥ETT
Mr. Shi Wanpeng* aEmEEES - 33
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo RN SE A 173 33
Mr. Fu Tingmei HEERTE 173 33
346 99

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2009: Nil).

* Mr. Shi Wanpeng has agreed to waive his current year
and future emoluments from the Company.

(b) Executive directors and non-executive

FRAAEZNBIIERTESRN
HAtb%r B (2009 : &) -

* ABEBELEEREBEMEARRNF]
IR S TAIRE R AR K e # B

(b) HTEERFHATES

directors
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Performance scheme
in kind related contributions Total
E2 -4 bonuses BIKE€58  remuneration
REYERN  REREEAL H% e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ETR AR¥ET T AR¥TR
2010 2010 F
Executive directors: WiTEE:
Mr. Xue Guoping BRI TSR - - - -
Mr. Wang Jinchang FTeEXALE - - - -
Mr. Zhang Xin RETEA 711 497 63 1,271
Non-executive directors: FEHITEE
Mr. Ning Gaoning BERELE - - - -
Mr. Zhou Zheng BABEE - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei Bk E L E - - - -
711 497 63 1,271
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Notes to the Financial Statements i

/E\ZI‘}]'%*&%%M#%I 31 December 2010

201012 A31H

8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive

directors (continued)

8. EEM= (&)
(b) BTESERFHTES

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Performance scheme
in kind related  contributions Total
&~ ER bonuses RREEtE]  remuneration
LEYRHN  RIBEEICL HR BETIN S
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETTT ARETFIT ARETIT
2009 2009
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Xue Guoping BRI - - - -
Mr. Wang Jinchang FEELLE = = = -
Mr. Zhang Xin SRS 664 231 58 953
Non-executive directors: JEHITES
Mr. Ning Gaoning BERELE - = = =
Mr. Zhou Zheng BB~ - - 58 58
Mr. Hu Yonglei KB LE - - - =
664 231 116 1,011
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or BrBIFES(a) FTIR BE FpREE S - F NI

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year, except for
the waiver disclosed in Note 8(a).

9. Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
(2009: one) director, details of whose remuneration are set out
in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
four (2009: four) non-director, highest paid employees for the
year are as follows:

EEREBEMZHRELREREHN
{i\ o

9. HEFMESHNES

FARBFHESNESRRE —RE
F£(2009: —4&) EHmESHBCLHER
EXHIFES - FREHHINE (2009 ¢
R)EEFMIFEENOMEFFELT

Group

AEEH
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #& 28 R EYIREF 1,453 1,550
Performance-related bonuses FRIGHEEDIEAL 1,021 648
Pension scheme contributions BIREET BRI 226 215
2,700 2,413

CPMC Holdings Limited F & & 22 i B BR A Al
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Five highest paid employees (continued) 9. ZEFMEENES (&)
For the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2010, the R 20094 &% 2010F12 831 B ILFfE
emoluments of each of the above non-director, highest paid REBSTMNF LlGESHFMALTEA
individuals paid by the Group were below RMB1,000,000 2 FHMEER AR 1,000,000 7T °
individually.
Income tax 10. FrBHL
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group FRNERAEBRE BN EEEER
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong FMALE - I EREF B SR LB
Kong during the year (2009: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable (2009 : f8) o H fbh 75 &9 fE 2
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing IR AR E B ESTE AR Em A IR 7T
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. MERETHE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTT
Group: £E
Current — Mainland China ANE] — R B A
Charge for the year FAZH 58,638 25,647
Underprovision in prior years BEFETREE 882 1,028
Deferred income tax (Note 26) RIEFTTS B (FiEE26) 8,362 735
Total tax charge for the year FATIARST 67,882 27,410

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the income tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a
reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

AR B~ EARERD KT8 R B A
EREER HATE B R ILRR B AT A B At B
MAERAX BREERREFE L
PSR S 2 F880 » A RGER B (B
EEBR) BERBR 2 T
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10. Income tax (continued) 10. A58 (48)
CONSOLIDATED
ST Group - 2010 RE-2010%
DN S
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
BB FEIR a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R % AR¥ETR % AR¥ETR %
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRFTS R AT/ (B518) (19,736) 305,937 286,201
STATEMENT Tax at the statutory tax rates ~ EAEREFHE 2 HIE (3,256) 165 76,484 250 73,228 25.6
OF FINANCIAL Profit not subject to tax AHBEEEA
POSITION ) oo
BRI E due to concessions® BRI - - (21,180) (6.9)  (21,180) (7.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR/ #0522 3,256 (16.5) 10,204 3.3 13,460 4.7
Adjustments in respect of DA AR
current tax of previous periods  F{JEFIE - - 882 0.3 882 0.3
Effect of withholding tax at AEEREFAT
5% on the distributable profits a2 EAIE 2 5%
of certain PRC subsidiaries ~ T&%i18 - - 2,120 0.7 2,120 0.7
Tax losses utilised from HRBEH
previous periods HIBEE - - (2,379) 0.8) (2,379 (0.8)
L‘I‘:‘LE’?CTRLT“E Tax losses not recognised AR HARR - - 1,751 0.6 1,751 05
STATEMENTS
RN Tax charge at the AEERERHE
Group's effective rate FEHBERX - - 67,882 222 67,882 23.7
Group - 2009 ZR & E —2009 F
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B FE At Bt
S RMB’OOE) RMB’OOE) RMB’OOE)
FINANCIAL ARETTT % ARETT % ARETTT %
SUMMARY
DFRIHHR Profit/(loss) before income tex & FT/5Hi AT/ (B548) (7,724) 188,975 181,251
Tax at the statutory tax rates AT X EZHE (1,274) 165 47,243 250 45969 25.4
Profit not subject to tax AHBESEA
due to concessions* A mRE = - Q7912 (148 (27,912 (15.4)
Income not subject to tax DR (56) 0.7 (1,381) 0.7) (1,437) 0.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax [z Bif sz 1,330 (17.2) 3,588 1.9 4,918 2.7
Adjustments in respect of DA AR B
current tax of previous periods  FiIB:H% - - 1,028 0.5 1,028 0.5
Effect of withholding tax at 5% A&EHEF A7
on the distributable profits of A2 KA 2 5%
certain PRC subsidiaries BHHIE - - 1,460 0.8 1,460 0.8
Tax losses utilised from FRBEL
previous periods HEEE - - (175) 0.1) (175) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised AR L FIBER - - 3,559 19 3,559 1.9
Tax charge at the Group's AEBRERHE
effective rate ATEZHER - - 27,410 145 27,410 15.1
'1 62 CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)
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10. Income tax (continued)

11.

* Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the rate of 25%. However,
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, being incorporated as
foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, have obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities in the PRC for their
entitlement to exemption from CIT for the first two years and
50% reduction in CIT for the next three years, commencing
from the first profitable year after offsetting all unexpired tax
losses carried forward from the previous years in accordance
with the relevant tax rules and regulations applicable to foreign
investment enterprises in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
undertook certain intra-group restructuring (the
“Restructuring”) pursuant to which the equity interests in
certain PRC subsidiaries held by BVI subsidiaries of the Group
were transferred to certain HK subsidiaries of the Group. The
Group obtained approval from Foreign Trade and Economic
Cooperation Bureau at end of 2007. Since 2009, the Ministry
of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation have
issued a series of regulations and rules, with retroactive
effect on 1 January 2008, concerning group restructuring
(collectively, the “Group Restructuring Tax Rules”). The Group
Restructuring Tax Rules stipulates that the capital gain derived
from equity transfer should be recognised when the transfer
agreement takes effective and the changing procedures
related to the equity transfer are completed. The directors
are of the opinion that in substance the Restructuring was
completed in 2007 and hence before the effective date of
Group Restructuring Tax Rules. Accordingly, the directors are
of the view that it is more likely that the Restructuring will not
cause any significant tax impact to the Group. Consequently,
no tax provision thereon has been made in these financial
statements.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010
includes a profit of approximately RMB55,948,000 (2009:
RMB143,051,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company (Note 28(b)).

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\?J'i%iﬁ%% Bﬁ%}
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10. FriE%i (&)

11.

* REFEPERE R EER25%
0Fi R G R e AT
#1) o A - AL B A BT
RONERELEREZETFRAERE
IR EERE 2 B 5H - BT
BB B R - BRHBIEE
BB A AP HBERREZ B
1EEFIFRLE - KRB M EFE RS
BRI WA R =FEE
B 50% IERATZH

REZE2007F12 31 HIEFE - K&
BETEBEAZA(EA]  BES
M AEEEBHERABEE FTARR
ETHEFRAGFAERECEEZER
EEETEBET AR o AEBEK 2007
FRATESHING HOESERAH
18 - B 2009 4F#E » BAERED « BRFLTS
BERBEM—RINEBEREHRNER
BB [ EBEAETFEREL )
B E2008F1 A1BRBAEM - R
ELEEERENRAEREZ D
AR BEXRES T FERER -
AT REEANBARRDARE AR
SERR AR AEE E FE MK IE (EH BARESR
EeRNRIEEERS  BEHEE LD
R 2007 FEEK - AMEREBEEAR
ISR BRI « Bt » EER
BB A] RE N ¥ AR & B iE K (R
BEABGEERE - B EGE R ARE
TEIRRAME T TERAE -

RATRAEGFE ARLFE

HE2010F12A31B IEFEE AR
AR AR A ARG EFEEENA
R 55,948,000 7T (2009 F : A R #&
143,051,000 7T) FE - EEARRQ A
B 5 RaR R TTRR IR (P 5E 28(b)) ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements

E\j‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁj% 31 December 2010

2010612 A31H

12. Dividends 12. RE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREBT T
Interim — RMB0.025 P H— SR AR
(2009: RMB15,833,333) AR#0.025 7T (2009 :
per ordinary share AFR# 15,833,333 7T) 20,885 95,000
Proposed final - RMB0.026 PR AR — AR A
(2009: RMBO0.035) AER#0.026 7T (2009 :
per ordinary share AR#0.0357C) 21,580 29,375
42,465 124,375

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the company

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company of RMB212,273,000 (2009: RMB146,873,000)
and the weighted average number of 830,000,000 (2009:
628,329,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2010 and 2009 because the Group had no potentially dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during these two years.

CPMC Holdings Limited A& & 22 i B BR A Al
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FRERBF NS HIREAFEED
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AR# 212,273,000 7T (2009 : AR
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A N S 5 £ 830,000,000 A% (2009 :
628,329,000 f% °
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! rs | ! ! Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010 Eji%iﬁﬁs—% Mj’%}
2010412 A 31 H
14. Property, plant and equipment 14. Y% - BERRE
Group KEHE
Electronic
equipment,
office
Machineries equipment
and and fixtures
equipment E 74 * Construction
Buildings BER  Vehicles MAZEHZME inprogress Total
F #fF  EHIA RkE EEIE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARMTR AR¥Tr ARET:R
31 December 2010 2010€12 831 F
At 1 January 2010: )5'4‘2010@1 A18:
Cost BAE 351,225 963,824 23615 31,80 282512 1,652,415
Accumulated depreciation ZithE
and impairment KnfE (33,664)  (275834)  (12750)  (11,552) - (333800)
Net carrying amount REFE 317,561 687,990 10,865 19,687 282512 1,318,615
At 1 January 2010, net of R201051A18 - 4k
accumulated depreciation 23t
and impairment Nm{E 317,561 687,990 10,865 19,687 282512 1,318,615
Additions NE 157 11,559 3,392 3,302 321,406 339,816
Disposals e (99) (3,481) (411) (124) - (4,115)
Depreciation provided during ~ IAEE/E
the year TERE (13,045)  (71,385) (3,987) (6,792) - (96,109)
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE—RTAH
(Note 29) (fitst 29) 20,922 24,994 446 842 - 47,204
Transfers upon completion THEE A 75,970 396,699 2,125 13,151 (487,945) -
At 31 December 2010, netof 12010412 A31 R - 1k
accumulated depreciation ZitE
and impairment KA 400,566 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115973 1,605,411
At 31 December 2010: R2010612 4318 :
Cost A . 419,851 1,442,993 28,451 49,798 115973 2,057,066
Accumulated depreciation ZithE
and impairment NRE (19,285)  (396,617) (16,021) (19,732) - (451,655)
Net carrying amount FEFE 400,566 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115973 1,605,411
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Notes to the Financial Statements 1 i I | ! 1 i
E\jﬁ%ﬁﬁmqa 31 December 2010
2010412 A31H
14. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14. Y% - BERZE (E)
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS Group AEE
BARSRER
Electronic
equipment,
office
Machineries equipment
and and fixtures
equipment EFRME - Construction
Buildings KER Vehicles  AZRE i progress Total
STATEMENT BF HE  EHIER ®E  HEIE Bt
OF FINANCIAL RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
S ARBTL ARBTL ARMTL ARBTI ARETL ARETR
31 December 2009 20095128318
At 1 January 2009: 200951 A1R
Cost XA 313,153 838,565 21312 26,359 112,865 1,312,254
Accumulated depreciation Zithe
and impairment KRE (22,307)  (224,190) (10,149) 6,720) - (2683,366)
T Net carrying amount REFE 290,846 614,375 11,163 19639 112865 1048888
FINANCIAL
;ng;;g;;gs AL January 2009, et of faézopg ALALRE L
accumulated depreciation 25tE
and impairment NRfE 290,846 614,375 11,163 19,639 112,865 1,048,888
Additions HE 652 43541 1,863 2,873 299,855 348,784
Disposals L& (1815) (2,060) (125) (441) - (4,441)
Depreciation provided RAEE
during the year TERE (10,949) (54,938) (3,220) (5,509) - (74,616)
Transfers upon completion TR A 38,827 87,072 1,184 3125 (130,208) -
FIVE-YEAR At 31 December 2009, netof ~ ®2009512 A 318 * A1k
E'UNQW?# accumulated depreciation ?EW%
REHBIEE and impairment KRB 317,561 687,990 10,865 19,687 282512 1,318,615
At 31 December 2009; R2009F 12318 :
Cost R 351,225 963,824 23,615 31,239 282512 1,652,415
Accumulated depreciation ZitirE
and impairment LM (33,664)  (275,834) (12,750) (11,552) - (333,800)
Net carrying amount REFE 317,561 687,990 10,865 19,687 282512 1318615
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% Bﬁ%}

201012 A31H

14. Y% - BMENRE ()

Company N
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
At 1 January: M1A18 :
Cost BXAR 607 588
Accumulated depreciation RETiE (142) =
Net carrying amount BREFE 465 588
At 1 January, net of ®n1A18 -
accumulated depreciation kR 2T E 465 588
Additions =T 20 19
Depreciation provided during the year RERITE (121) (142)
At 31 December, net of W12 8318 -
accumulated depreciation MR Rt E 364 465
At 31 December: Mm12H318 :
Cost B AR 627 607
Accumulated depreciation 2EHNE (263) (142)
Net carrying amount BREFHE 364 465

The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment held under finance leases included in the total
amounts of machineries and equipment, and vehicles at 31
December 2010 amounted to RMB2,154,000 (2009:Nil) and

RMB1,097,000 (2009:Nil), respectively.

At 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s buildings,
machineries and equipment, with an aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately RMB133,529,000 (2009:
RMB75,789,000) were pledged to secure general banking

facilities granted to the Group (Note 25(a(ii)).

R2010F12 A31H  BIEEKE R
X MEHTAR AEBRRE
METHENETYE  BE&K
MEREDFED B A AR 2,154,000
JC(20094F : #) K AFR#1,097,0007C
(2009 : &) -

MR2010F12 A31H » KX & & 1
THENEZENAREEFENOA
#133,529,000 7T (20094F : A R
75,789,000 7T) EEHIFIE A A EE
BERTTIE E AR (M5 25(a)i) °

=
K
5
®
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Notes to the Financial Statements T | ! 1
lﬂ\jﬁ%ﬁﬁ Mj"EI 31 December 2010
2010412 A31 B
15. Land use rights 15. i e
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
AR A mES Group
rEH
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARET T
Net carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 BIREE 95,871 76,022
Additions NE 15,892 22,359
Recognised during the year RERTER (2,605) (2,510)
STATEMENT
SSSF‘%NC'AL Net carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 BiREE 109,158 95,871
All of the Group’s land use rights are held under a long term REB A i AESRERANR
lease and are situated in Mainland China. KRB WAL R B A o
As at 31 December 2010, land use rights with a net carrying R2010F 12 A31H * REFEAA
amount of RMB25,105,000 (2009: RMB16,777,000) were R #25,105,000 7T (2009 4F : A R #&
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the 16,777,000 7T) K Lt AR {E A
Group (Note 25(a)(i). SERITEE 2T (FIEE25()() °
NOTES TO THE 16. Goodwill 16. &
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
P B Group rEE
RMB’000
AR%T
At 1 January 2009 and 200941 A1 8 Kk2009412 A31 8 :
31 December 2009:
Cost KR 1,809
FIVE-VEAR Accumulated impairment 2EHRE -
FINANCIAL
Sﬂéﬂ?ﬁ& Net carrying amount BREHE 1,809
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of MN2010%1 A1 8 - Ik Est
accumulated impairment VEREWAD®N 1,809
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 29) WeE—m-F 2R (BIFE29) 57,944
Cost and net carrying amount at M20106F 12 H31 BHAY
31 December 2010 XN BRBR T FHE 59,753
At 31 December 2010: R2010F 12 A31 8 :
Cost DN 59,753
Accumulated impairment 2EIRE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 59,753

'1 68 CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)
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16. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations of
RMB1,809,000 and RMB57,944,000 have been allocated to
the beverage cans cash-generating unit and plastic packaging
cash-generating unit, respectively.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has been impaired
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.4
to the financial statements. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering each asset’s remaining life. Cash flows applying
to each asset’s remaining life are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates. The growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the packaging businesses
in which the cash-generating units operate.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

0% ~ 20%
10.8% ~ 12.6%

o Growth rates
° Discount rates after tax

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and its expectations for market
development. The weighted average growth rate used is
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.
The discount rate used is after-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant segments.

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\?J'i%iﬁ%% MQLEI

201012 A31H

16. & (&)

EERERR
BREHESHBREBONIESR—RAR
#4,809,0007T & A R # 57,944,000
T ERRNoRERBEZIREEL
BURBBREZIREEESN -

AEBRBMBRERM 24 FFENE
ABER BFAAERERLRE -
R & E L B A BYGRIER B E A
EBEAEEE - HABEREEEEY
HEHEEFGAERFRIEL M
BRESEMETRS RN - BR
REREERNGAERFEFRZASR
BRBEFH B R RS EER - %IE
RRWSABBRCELEUZEEL
BEREBRMFHREEE -

HEMEBEFENERRER

o HRX 0%~20%
o TEIMIRE 10.8%~12.6%

EEERBBERRUREHHIZH
RZIEHFREREENEK - A2
INHE IR R R I RE P IERE
—H e FAZTRESREHFIR
BRABRA D BRI A 2 B
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Eﬁ%iﬁﬁf‘fﬁi 31 December 2010

2010612 A31H

17. Other intangible assets

17. HtEREE

Group KEHE
Customer Computer
relationship software Total
EFRE B Ea =
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AR¥ETRT AR¥TR AR¥T R
31 December 2010 201012 H31H
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of 20101 A1H
accumulated amortisation MBREREAAR 1,540 5,404 6,944
Additions NE - 562 562
Amortisation provided during the year F - (1,242) (1,242)
At 31 December 2010 72010512 A31 A 1,540 4,724 6,264
At 31 December 2010: M2010%F12A831H :
Cost (DN 1,540 9,571 11,111
Accumulated amortisation ZEt#EE - (4,847) (4,847)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 4,724 6,264
31 December 2009 20094 12H31H
At 1 January 2009: MN2009F1A18 :
Cost BN 1,540 8,843 10,383
Accumulated amortisation REEE - (2,509) (2,509)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,540 6,334 7,874
Cost at 1 January 2009, net of 20091 A1H
accumulated amortisation HIBREE SERK AR 1,540 6,334 7,874
Additions NE - 166 166
Amortisation provided during the year EREEH - (1,096) (1,096)
At 31 December 2009 M 2009412 A31 H 1,540 5,404 6,944
At 31 December 2009 and 72009412 A31 H
at 1 January 2010: KkR2010F1 818
Cost (DN 1,540 9,009 10,549
Accumulated amortisation Z5HE S - (3,605) (3,605)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 5,404 6,944
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18. Investments in subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% Bﬁ'%

201012 A31H

18. RF DRI E

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Company FARERER
KA A
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Unlisted shares, at cost JE MR - KA 514,165 514,165
Due from subsidiaries e F R RIFRIA 1,401,995 900,443
1,916,160 1,414,608 STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
2 R0 =

The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the
Company’s non-current assets are unsecured, interest-free
and are not repayable within one year. In the opinion of the
directors, these balances are considered as quasi-equity
loans to these subsidiaries.

The balances with subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

BREARBBERBDEEANNEET
REFASEEA - A ERAAR
—FRKE  EFXRR - BEEHRTD
WRERE T FRARMERERER -

ARBHREEERBEFBREAOK
BRBGEHRYE R EEN - TEFENE
BEEERY -

TEFRANFBOT

Nominal value  Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable to

registered the Company

Place of share capital Direct Indirect

registration BRTEE AOEME Principal

Company name and operations BA/ M REESL activities
AR ER AR R A RAHEE EE BE TEXK
COFCO (BVI) No.33 Limited British Virgin Islands USS$1 100 = Investment
i (RBRRRES) £ 3B3ERAA RBHRARES 1%L holding
REER

COFCO (BVI) No.86 Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment
i (RBAERREES) %86 ARAR HEEARHS 1E holding
RERR

COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment
TR (RBERREE) EUARAT KBHRARES 17T holding
RERR

COFCO (BVI) No.39 Limited British Virgin Islands USS$1 100 - Investment
PR (REEBRER)EARAR RERRRES 1ET holding
RERR
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Notes to the Financial Statements ' '
E\jﬁ%i&i‘% Mj"EI 31 December 2010
2010412 A 31 H
18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 18. RFRAEINKRE (F)
Nominal value  Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable to
registered the Company
Place of share capital Direct Indirect
registration BRTEE  AORMME Principal
Company name and operations B/ Em  RESSL activities
IR o A St 3 RAEE H#E i3 TEEK
CPMC (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment
HIEBE(FH)BRAR B 187 holding
RERR
COFCO-MC (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment
RIEBEER(BE)BRAT e 18T holding
([HiEasRs(B8)]) RERR
Powerful Chance Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100 Investment
NEBARRA 30 18T holding
RERR
International United Group Limited Hong Kong US$3,800,000 - 100 Investment
(“IlUGL HK?) &% 3,800,000%T holding
BEmBERMEEEARAR([HERE]) AR
COFCO Packaging Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Investment
FIEREFRATF BB 18T holding
AR
Grand Power China Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Investment
AP EEREAR B 17387 holding
KA
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China  US$30,050,000 — 100 Metal packaging
MNP RERARARD A R, HEANM 30,050,000 manufacture
TERE
K
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China  US$30,290,000 - 100 Metal and
BMERENERABRAR" RE/REAN  30,290,000%7T plastic packaging
manufacture
EENZBAER
K
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.** PRC/Mainland China ~ US$25,000,000 - 61.48 Metal packaging
EHEBHEERAR REHERNM 25,000,000 manufacture
([EmBHEN ) TERE
K
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China ~ US$32,500,000 = 100 Metal packaging
MM BEERAR B/ HREIRM 32,500,000 7T manufacture
(M es]) TERE
K

CPMC Holdings Limited F & & 22 i B BR A Al
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* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
“* Sino-foreign equity joint ventures
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010 E\Z"j’%ﬁ% Bﬁ%
2010412 A 31 H
18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 18. R T A TIMIKRE (&)
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Nominal value  Percentage GARLRER
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable to
registered the Company
Place of share capital Direct Indirect
registration BRTE v NG )it Principal
Company name and operations B/ 2m RESSL activities
NGRS ] AE R A BAEE HE - BEE TEEK
COFCO Packaging Tianjin Company Limited *  PRC/Mainland China  US$31,000,000 = 100 Metal packaging STATEMENT
FieRE (KE)ERAR * B/ HREIR 31,000,000 7T manufacture OF FINANCIAL
SEaE POSITION
B TR =
HE '
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China ~ US$20,000,000 - 100 Metal packaging
FREBE (KE)ERAR " HEl/HREIRM 20,000,000 7T manufacture
Gl [k
HE
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Can End Co., Ltd.** PRC/Mainland China  US$10,250,000 - 100 Metal packaging
FREBE (BT HEER AR HEL/HREIRN 10,250,000 7T manufacture
SERE
HE NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB17,000,000 = 100 Metal packaging SEZA;%V'%E;E
KRR ETREEGRAR" BB A AR manufacture ‘
17,000,000 7T G 2E
KE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China  US$30,000,000 - 100 Metal packaging
Riga (HE) BRAA" REHREAN 30,000,000 TT manufacture
TEEKR
HE
Shenzhen CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China  RMB50,000,000 = 100 Metal packaging
APEaRARAR" RE R E A AR manufacture FF\‘!\\I//EANYCEIQ\R
50,000,000 7T TEAEK SUMMARY
HE AFHBRE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China ~ US$22,000,000 = 100 Metal packaging
TR EER AR * B/ HREIR 22,000,000 7T manufacture
TBEE
i
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$3,800,000 — 100 Plastic packaging
(“Shanghai Pinguan’)* RE/HERN  3,800,000% T manufacture
PERBEBRIXERAR( LERE])" EROREE

RAFE  AEBKRBESHTERE
2ETARLEERT - WEFHBEHL
B FRFRMIFE29 o

ERBINEER/IEZEAFESR
AXBRAKEFEERNBINAR
AMEAR - EERA  RHEEMN
BARFIEEEREILE

During the year, the Group acquired IUGL HK and its wholly-
owned subsidiary Shanghai Pinguan. Further details of this
acquisition are included in Note 29 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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Notes to the Financial Statements | 1117 I - i
/E\Zl‘i%ﬁ%’z Mj"ﬁ‘?ﬁ 31 December 2010
2010412 A31H
19. Inventories 190. &
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER Group
AEE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Raw materials R 257,479 197,177
Work in progress &M 149,494 145,218
Finished goods D 186,904 100,405
STATEMENT Consumables FEM 11,489 12,119
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
BEMRAE 605,366 454,919
20. Trade and bills receivables 20. ESERRRERERE
Group
AEE
2010 2009
NOTES TO THE RM B’OO_O RM,B'OO_O
FINANCIAL ARET T ARETIT
STATEMENTS
itk Trade and bills receivables from REFE=ZAEPHEI
third-party customers B S UG & R RS 630,231 449,656
Trade and bills receivables from R E g N ERE S
related parties (Note 34(b)) R REWREE
(FH7E34(0)) 9,181 4,158
639,412 453,814
FIVE-YEAR Impairment E (3,527) (1,817)
FINANCIAL
Eqrhl 635,885 451,997
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20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally for 30 to
90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk except for the sales
to the top five major customers of the Group as detailed in
Note 4 to the financial statements. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of provisions, is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% Bﬁ%}

201012 A31H

20- =4 EJFLI& &FEI‘I&ZR (lnﬁ)
AEES %%ﬁf*%ﬁﬁ =N
yzﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ 1“§HH #% £ 30-90

K- BEEFHBRSEEE A%
l#*?ﬁ%% %UE*E%&F’EH&EE?A

iﬁ%% %H*Bi’lﬁf%ﬂﬁﬁ%é?
{Eﬁ BEAB ST Bt
b IE fﬁ’ﬂ:};%lﬁ’ 4N B 75 e 2%
Farril BRAKBERASMUEIER
FRIHERI  UBBAEEETA
B o B BRUGKENFT S -

A B A RS RO R B AR e R
HSZ?TETF&%KEI,H&@ JI?DB%%‘E%%EI’UEE

Group

rEE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTT
Within 3 months 3EARA 626,225 445,588
3 to 12 months 32 121EA 9,089 4,417
1 to 2 years 1226 400 1,992
Over 2 years 2EMF 171 =
635,885 451,997

The movements in provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B RUGREBEREZEIT

Group

rEE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
At 1 January ®m1A1H 1,817 2,517
Impairment losses recognised ERERZRERE 4,904 779
Amount written off as uncollectible MEE Ak e 2 £ 58 (3,194) (1,479)
At 31 December m12 A318 3,527 1,817

Annual Report 2010 —Z —ZFF 3k

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CGASH FLOWS

B A =' +

FRAE)

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
B &

JLIX

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR

FINANCIAL

SUMMARY
hEMBHE

175



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

AT A S

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
B

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
RIS HRMIE

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
RFHHHE

176

Notes to the Financial Statements

E\j‘ﬁ%iﬁi‘%ﬁj‘% 31 December 2010

2010612 A31H

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB3,527,000 (2009: RMB1,817,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB3,527,000 (2009:
RMB1,817,000).

The individually impaired accounts receivable relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and only a portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
individually or collectively considered to be impaired is as

20. EZRBRKREVRERE (&)

ELENESERFRERET B
AR 3,527,000 70 (20094 © AR
#1,817,0000) E2EREE FEK
R2BE FERRRZEEEEAS
AR#&3,527,0007C (2009 F : AREE
1,817,0007T) °

& 5! & YR IR B B R = BRI R P
B T IR 2 K TR AT E AR Uk B B 40 B U
FOH o AEEWENZ FERTEE
Ak E g R EEIAE -

KA B 2k F RIR AR E R B 5 e R
MERER DHTZA T

follows:

Group

rEH
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Neither past due nor impaired KRB R RBE 630,924 445 588
Less than 1 month past due wHD A1 {E A 3,617 491
1 to 3 months past due wHEI1 =318 A 512 982
More than 3 months past due mEAHER 3 {E A 832 4,936
635,885 451,997

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
the customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

CPMC Holdings Limited F & & 22 i B BR A Al
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21. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21. AR - R R HAEWER
STATENENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Group Company FARBSMER
S | D7
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETT AR%TRT AR%®TL
Current assets REEE
Prepayments to third- BRNTEZHELER
party suppliers LB 229,425 134,642 694 1,329
Deposits b2 5,806 3,318 110 125 STATEMENT
Loans and advances to BEERRBN o Fg&'“,%&
employees 7,052 3,996 - - B HRE
Input VAT recoverable el 2 TR (A T 63,273 31,110 - =
Prepaid expenses BHEH 1,767 1,559 - =
Other receivables from HibfEW E = HRUA
third parties 8,117 3,064 - -
Amounts due from related FEMBRE A T 5KIB
parties (Note 34(b)) (FizE 34(b)) 170 110 - =
315,610 177,799 804 1,454
NOTES TO THE
Non-current assets FRBEE snF\ITNEm(:wI%
Deposit for an investment BB ESRE 59,056 = - = LR L
Long-term deferred assets RPETCEE 2,203 874 - =
61,349 874 - -

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY

hEHBHE
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21. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

21. AR~ RER AR

Saeny | (continued) o
CASH FLOWS
FARSRER The movements in provision for impairment of other fhEW R B R e B T
receivables are as follows:
Group
AEE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL At 1 January m1A18 3,777 1,646
?voglﬂN% Impairment losses recognised BRERREEE 2,215 2,363
- Amount written off as uncollectible WEE AT E 2 £58 (2,749) (232)
At 31 December ®12 A31 H 3,243 3,777

B RS RN E R
B -

22. BERREEEBYREEREFR

The prepayments, deposits and other receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

22. Cash and cash equivalents and pledged

NOTES TO THE deposits
FINANGIAL
STATEMENTS
BRI
Group Company
& YNNG
2010 2009 2010 2009
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
/i3 ARETRE ARETT AR%Tn AR%Tn
Cash and bank balances Be KiRTEs 528,453 1,121,921 7,258 566,046
FIVE-YEAR Less: ’F&; -
FINANCIAL Pledged deposits for letters HEEAEEER
Sf“ggﬁfgg of credit ZER (13,184) (14,090) - -
. Pledged deposits for NSRRI
bills payable ZER 23 (14,578) (49,124) - -
Pledged deposits for RERITIE TR
bank borrowings ZER 25(a)/ii) (19,519) (40,432) - -
Pledged deposits for others FhEMIE B R 2 TR - (863) - =
(47,281)  (104,509) - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReKHAEEEY 481,172 1,017,412 7,258 566,046
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22.

23.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits (continued)

At 31 December 2010, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
RMB380,421,000 (2009: RMB324,332,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Trade and bills payables

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date is as
follows:

22.

23.

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% MQLEI

201012 A31H

%3&%@%@%&8&##%
MR2010512 A31H » &N &£ B A A
REAENES RBITESDRIAA
R #380,421,0007C (2009 : A K #&
324,332,0007T) ° AREEAA B A
BAHEMEE - AW BIFERBE AL
H TN B IR A0 e A5 T - &5 T Mo 5 [E
BT AEBEERERERS
fl\%%%i‘%m&fﬂ%/&ﬁ@;}@?%ﬁm
E B o

RITHEESRE B RITIF A EREUF
BHE REAKEHREFT Rz
g BHERERFRPH—BE
=EARE U ARG/ EHE
I SR R BRERA B - SRITHEBR B
EHRER D ERNIHERRCEERE
BRI ZIRIT

EZRNRRENRE

RIRERERE - REZHHAED
B N R PER RR A BRE S5 4T 40
T

Group

REE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARBTIT
Within 3 months 3EAN 611,873 506,512
3 to 12 months 3= 121 A 76,540 22,346
1 to 2 years 1224 1,756 8,119
Over 2 years 2FPAE 1,210 991
691,379 537,968

As at 31 December 2010, bank deposits of RMB14,578,000
(2009: RMB49,124,000) had been pledged as security for bills
payable of RMB365,752,000 (2009: RMB276,286,000) (Note
22).

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally settled on 30 to 90 days.

MN2010512 8318 1T EFE X A
R #14,578,0007t (2009 : A R #&
49,124,0007T ) EE R BN EH A
R #365,752,000 7T (2009 : A R #
276,286,000 7T ) R G (FIFE22) -

ZHRNARENZERTTEN
HEERAHRBEA30EQAR -
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/E\j_l';_]'%ﬁ%% Mj"ﬁf 31 December 2010
2010412 A 31 B
24. Other payables and accruals 24, HittEENR R EFTER
STATENENT OF
CASH FLOWS
EARSTER Group Company
Xr&E N
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®TR AR%ET:
Advances from customers RP#R 109,035 78,311 - =
Salary and welfare payables R TE KGR 34,576 35,225 - =
Accrual expenses B & 34,212 31,104 3,093 4,782
STATEMENT Guarantee deposits from HEFRER
e suppliers 5,178 4,895 - -
B RE Payables for purchases b B AN
of equipment 22,489 22,605 - =
Amounts due to related ERBEALHE
parties (Note 34(b)) (FiizE 34(b)) 335 = - =
Tax payables other than BRE HF{SHIE
current income tax liabilties BEINENTIE 15,321 11,281 4,864 -
Others Hith 34,154 57,672 - 2,829
255,300 241,093 7,957 7,611
NOTES TO THE
FINANGIAL
;ngl\%n;;gs Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and HEMEMNZTREATEE 2 THER
‘ have an average term of three months. FHEMAE=EA -

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
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25. Interest-bearing bank borrowings 25. ;T EHRITER

Group KEH

=

2010
Effective
interest
rate
ERA=E Maturity ~ RMB’000
(%) 8 ARETR

2009
Effective
interest
rate
ERFI% Matuity ~ RMB'000
(%) 8 ARETRE

Current L
Bank loans - unsecured RITER — EHA 0.70-4.59 2011 488,147  1.08-4.37 2010 502,693
Bank loans - secured ROTER — HHEA 2.00-4.59 2011 32171 150-7.47 2010 136,401
520,318 639,094
/'\ —
Company G
2010 2009
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
ERFZ  Maturity RMB'000  EBEFX Maturity ~ RMB'000
(%) I8 ARETR (%) HE ARETR
Current ke
Bank loans - unsecured RITER — EHA 0.70-1.42 2011 418,147  1.65-2.16 2010 343,387
Notes: Bt -
(a) At the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s bank @ REBEHEK  FERBME TRITEN

loans are secured by:

() the Group’s land use rights, which had an
aggregate carrying value of RMB25,105,000 (2009:
RMB16,777,000) (Note 15);

(i) the Group’s buildings, machineries and equipment, which
had an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1383,529,000
(2009: RMB75,789,000) (Note 14); and

(i) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to RMB19,619,000 (2009: RMB40,432,000)
(Note 22).

(b) Except for bank loans of RMB437,318,000 (2009: b)
RMB404,294,000) which are denominated in United States
dollars, all borrowings are in RMB.

KRS EIBEHAT -

Y

(i)

(i)

KEF R L (EFE - FREE
HEA R 25,105,0005T (2009
F : ARK16,777,000T) (BT
it15) ;

KEBFIET - #ESR RN
BRET(E 25T A K 133,629,000
T (20094 : A R# 75,789,000
TT)(BiaE14) R

AEEFHE FERH LA
E#19,5619,0007T (20094 : A
E#40,432,0007T) (fiit22) »

B A FE #437,318000T (20094 :
AR# 404,294,000 7T ) )48 7T B 50X
ZETLEHES) + AT B B UN R 5T

]

o
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E\Zl‘i%ﬁ%’z Mj"ﬁ‘?ﬁ 31 December 2010
2010412 A31H
26. Deferred tax 26 EEBIE
CONSOLIDATED
e The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FRRERBREENRABNHES N
FARERER year are as follows: BN
Deferred tax assets BEEMRBEE
Group rEE
Decelerated  Decelerated
Provision for tax tax
STATEMENT impairment  depreciation  amortisation
OF FINANCIAL Provision for  Provision for Provision of property,  ofproperty,  onthe pre-
Eﬁi‘ﬂg’\‘ o impairmentof impairmentof  forwrite-  plantand  plantand  operating
B trade other downof  equipment  equipment expenses
receivables  recevables  inventories 4% HE 4% KR B
BARNE  ERBRUR i3 R IR AERCHE Others Total
HERE  GERE  KERE  OMBRE NERERE  RERH 4 it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTz  ARETz  ARETR
At1 January 2009 RO9E1A1H 5% 316 769 14729 560 19 7088 24,300
Defered tax REEESRUEEN
NOTES TO THE . ;
EINANCIAL credited/charged) tothe T%lﬁl/ (ﬂl‘%)ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ
STATEMENTS consoldated income B (B3 10)
HERENE statement during the year
(Note 10) (261) 672 %0 (1,741) 69 - (1,860) (3,029)
(Gross defered tax assets R09E12A31 A
at 31 December 2009 R2010£171H
and 1 Januay 2010 nEgRmaEE 3% 1048 1015 1298 4 191 5203 211

Defored tax credted/charged) ~ MAERERANERRA
tothe consoldated income o/ (k)a

S statementdurng te yer ERrA (i 10)
FINANCIAL (Note 10) 467 (152) (449) 9:343) 89 - 643 (8919
SUMMARY
hENBHE )
o Gross e HON0E 2B
fox assels MEETEREEE
at 31 December 2010 802 896 566 3,645 386 191 5,66 12,352
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liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of

L] i L] i .
| i
! | rs | ! Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010 Eji%iﬁ%% Mﬂ'%}
2010412 A 31 H
26. Deferred tax (continued) 26. EFEBIIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEREEE
Group rEE
Withholding
Accelerated tax taxation of the
Acceleratedtax  depreciation of unremitted
amortisationof  property, plant earnings of certain
land use rights  and equipment subsidiaries
TERE EN T ETFARA
A3 RfEzm REMEF Others Total
HEks BRENE 2B Hith @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2009 R2009F1A18 1,194 386 3,595 = 5175
Deferred tax credited REEEGANEEN
to the consolidated income REMEERE
statement during the year (Note 10) ~ (Hf310) (74 (85) (2,135) - (2,204)
Gross deferred tax liabilties R2009412 A31H
at 31 December 2009 k201051718
and 1 January 2010 WEETLHEERE 1,120 301 1,460 - 2,881
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 29) W& T2 7] (£ 29) = 1,839 - 290 2,129
Deferred tax (credited)/charged RAERERA AR
to the consolidated income (Bm),/ M
statement during the year (Note 10) BRI (fitzE10) (74 (859) 660 (290) (557)
Gross deferred tax liabilties R2010F12 431 B
at 31 December 2010 MEETAERER 1,046 1,287 2,120 - 4,453
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MEIME  HETEEREBEEERS

BERGEE P BAARA T IAEH -

financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred AT R ASEEMBERmRNS /R
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes: BB R DT -
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE MR &
in the consolidated statement of REVEIEFTS
financial position BEFH 12,352 21,185
Net deferred tax liabilities RERE BRI &R
recognised in the consolidated WEREIREFT 1S
statement of financial position BEFE (4,453) (2,795)
7,899 18,390
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I 26. Deferred income tax (continued) 26. IEIEFTISH (&)
ELQ\LEQC%NVJSOF The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of 7N & E b 7F B B A b E A F B B 1R
BARERER approximately RMB18,547,000 (2009: RMB27,894,000) that #) AR #518,547,0007T(20094F : AR
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future #27,894,0007T) ' R —E2RAFAE
taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised i AR SE R R FERR A A o R
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries FHEEREEE —BREBESER
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not MFAaa - BETNREE I EBERN
considered probable that taxable profits will be available FMEARKE BRI IEERE - i
against which the tax losses can be utilised. WARMERABBRIESHEE
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% BIEPREMEMRERE S RAPERAM
[ withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign AL RIINE R R AR MR B B T IRA)
OF FINANCIAL investors from the foreign investment enterprises established A% BZBIZ 10% BANTEINFR o HHRE R
Sosmon in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 200841 A1 BEAR - BAM20074F
e January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 12 A31 BUBREEMEF o fHHPEA
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there W EAE BB IMNRE ETERN RAER
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction Z BT AR S E - BIF s dE A 8K
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate RTEMFE - AKEmMES - BHAM
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes EE5% - ALt - AEBEBERRFEA
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established MRS BT A TR 20084F 1 A1 B MAE
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 EERREFIFT D IRAM SN TEFFT -
January 2008.
NOTES TO THE
STATEMENTS 27. Share capital 27. A&
B HR M
Shares iz 7
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Authorised: ETERRA
B~ 1,500,000,000 (2009: 1,500,000,000)  SRREEO0.10ETTY HEAR
FINANCIAL ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,500,000,000 f% (2009 & :
s 1,500,000,000 %) 132,072 132,072
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE ¢
830,000,000 (2009: 830,000,000) BREE0I0EBITZER
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 830,000,000 % (2009 4F
830,000,000 fi%) 73,080 73,080
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27. Share capital (continued)

A summary of the transactions during the years ended 31
December 2009 and 2010 in the Company’s issued share

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\?J'i%iﬁ%% Bﬁ%}

201012 A31H

27. JRA (48)

REZE 20096 K% 2010412 A31 H1E
FE - ARAREBITRATHNZ HHH

capital is as follows: B :
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account
2817 28T &) Total
RIDEE IR HERR =)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRT AR¥ETR AR%TrR
At 1 January 2009 M2009F1A1H 6 - 495,514 495,514
Subdivided shares (a) BRD1F5 (a) 54 = = -
Transfer from share premium (b) B & EEIEAA () 599,999,940 52,828 (52,828) =
Issue of new shares (c) BATHRD () 230,000,000 20,252 1,071,279 1,091,531
Share issue expenses BinE1TE R - - (93,077) (93,077)
At 31 December 2009 and #2009 12 A31 8
31 December 2010 % 2010412 A31H 830,000,000 73,080 1,420,888 1,493,968

(@ Pursuant to the written resolutions of the then sole
shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October
2009, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$10,000 to HK$150,000,000 by the
creation of an additional 149,990,000 shares of HK$1.00
each. The authorised share capital was then subdivided
into 1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each.
The 6 issued shares of HK$1.00 each were subdivided
into 60 shares of HK$0.10 each.

(o) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the then sole
shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October
2009, the directors were authorised to capitalise the
amount of HK$59,999,994 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company as a result of
the Global Offering and apply such sum in paying up in
full at par 599,999,940 shares for allotment and issue
to the sole shareholder (or its nominee) whose name
appears on the register of the Company on 23 October
2009. 59,999,994 shares were issued on 13 November
2009.

() In connection with the Company’s initial public offering,
230,000,000 new shares of HK$0.10 each were
issued at a price of HK$5.39 per share for a total cash
consideration, before expenses, of HK$1,239,700,000
(equivalent to RMB1,091,531,000). Dealing in these
shares on the Stock Exchange commenced on 16
November 2009.

(@)

R 1R 28 A A7) ME— % 3R 52 2009
1023 HBBNEMAER
KR B) 3 1B 38 5% 149,990,000 A%
FRXTEE 1.0078 TR FBIMNAD
15 5% & P& 28 110,000 T i =
150,000,000% 7T ° 7= & i% AN A
BIRD AEREEO0I10B T E
A% 1,500,000,000 f% ° 3% 6% &
A& 1B 1.00 8 T A B 31T I (D 1f
5 560 FEE0.10 8 TTRIA%

{/’\ ®

B IR AN A 5] ME— % B 70 2009 F
1023 HBBMNEMMFER
ERERESAEHRBEEELEN
ARamnEBRPHERRE
59,999,994 7 JT F A & A1t -
WSS BRAR I EAEEM
& 599,999,940 f% A& 15+ LA A R
20094 10 23 H & %l &N A &
ERMAARRDF M —IRE(HE
RBAN)REERZEITHBERD -
59,999,994 % £ F 20094 11 A
13 BT -

KD T ERA R ER
§%5.3078 T B B 1% B 17
230,000,000 & Z A& EE0.10 /&
TR RBE R ERRE
1,239,700,000/8 7L (FHER AR
#1,091,531,000 7% ) (& & 53
%) o ERAN T 20094F 11 A 16
BRREBIAMES -
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27. Share capital (continued)

Share option scheme

On 28 October 2009, the shareholders of the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) for the purpose of attracting, retaining and
motivating directors and eligible participants and providing
them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage them to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company. Eligible participants include, but
are not limited to, any directors, (excluding independent non-
executive directors), officers and employees of the Group, or
any other person the board of directors may propose. The
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 16 November 2009.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Board.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
Board, but may not be less than the higher of () the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; or (i) the
nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

CPMC Holdings Limited F & & 22 i B BR A Al

27. IR (4&)

fBRRERT &

200910 H23H * AR AIMREA
1R AL R BR A T — IR B AR i st 2
([ZEtEl]) - 8ERS| - B8 KHE
i%&Aéh/A% NIZ Sl S= N

RENFTAERELZ SR FIARA
AAREEMIE fER2EER
HEETNERNAEBEMES (TEEB
j#%ﬁ%%)'*mélﬁﬁé-i
EECEZNTMEMAL - ZETE
sz%%1ﬂmat$a BB A
T4

Bzt 8 B AR R T oRTT 2 BB AR
BRTERAIRBZARBABEN RS
J:BE%(E $HMEAZIS’AﬂEEﬁE§§‘ﬁ
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28. Reserves

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% MQLEI

201012 A31H

= CONSOLIDATED
@) Group 28 WE bt
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the (a) =~%£E BARSRER
movements therein for the current and prior years are REBRKRNFERBEFEE2HE
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in BHRBE M BEEHER G ER
equity. FERZEY -
Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC PiN/NCT A el AV S /NI E )
are required to make appropriations to certain statutory ETEEREELS IR BB
reserves, namely the reserve funds from their statutory EhEeEREERIETER
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses HEEE RAEREE AD KA
as determined under the PRC accounting regulations HR - HETEEARESELRD STATEMENT
from prior years and before profit distribution to equity fid - WRZE AT LATESIEL DR OF FINANCIAL

holders. The percentage to be appropriated to such
statutory reserve funds is determined according to
the relevant regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the
discretion of the boards of directors of the respective
companies.

MA D - REFBEAEMRTE N
10%EE - IHEBARINES

SHBEE -

POSITION

JLIX

(b) Company

Exchange
fluctuation NOTFEI:IIﬂcTI:E
Share reserve  Retained STATEMENTS
premium  EZKE profits Total HBEENE
R EER i BENE fit
Notes RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
it ARETT ARETR AR%TR ARETR
At 1 January 2009 200951 A1H 596,975 - (11,993) 584,982
Profit for the year FRHE 11 - - 143,051 143,051
Transfer from share D
premium e 27 (62,828) - - (62,828) S
Issue of shares BIRG 27 1,071,279 - - 1,071,279 FINANCIAL
Share issue expenses RHETER 27 (93,077) - - (93,077) - EUWﬁFﬁ
2009 interim dividend 2009 P HfR S 12 - - (95,000) (95,000) .
Proposed 2009 final ¥HIR# 2000
dividend RS 12 - - (29,375) (29,375)
At 31 December 2009 7200912 A31H 1,522,349 - 6,683 1,529,032
Profit for the year FRHE 11 - - 55,948 55,948
Exchange differences BEEGES
on translation - (36,189) - (36,189)
2010 interim dividend 2010 HfR S 12 - - (20,885) (20,885)
Proposed 2010 final BIRF2010F
dividend REMRE 12 - - (21,580) (21,580)
At 31 December 2010 12010612 31 B 1,522,349 (36,189) 20,166 1,506,326
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20, EKE6t

29. Business combination

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

N

On 26 April 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited entered into a share purchase
agreement with International United Group Ltd. (“IUGL”),
pursuant to which COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited agreed
to purchase all issued share capital of IUGL HK and its
wholly-owned subsidiary Shanghai Pinguan from IUGL at
a cash consideration of approximately RMB146,606,000
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was made as part of
the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of plastic
packaging segment.

MR2010F4 A268 » KA al &2 & T
AEFRE(ABHERRES)FE34E
RAFHZEHEHSSEBEERA A
((REDEIMTHER R - BRERE
g PRER(EBEBRES) S
MERAFRBENREERBARE
146,606,000 7T 1 a0 & W iR B 8 m e
HERHMEEEERAR(EERE])
FE2ETAR L EREEBIES
RAr ([ EERE]) 23E ZITRA
([WEEEIE]) - WEEEAXEBR

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL BEEEBBEE S IBATEHEAR

POSITION

A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Shanghai Pinguan as at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

B — 817

NGRS EERE2 TRpEE
REEZ DA EERSMT ;

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
NOTES TO THE Ik B B RS Y
STATEMENTS AR
B Notes RMB’000
HaE ARET T
Property, plant and equipment W - B MR 14 47,204
Deposits for purchase of items of BEYE BER
property, plant and equipment HENZS 1,051
Inventories F&E 19,274
Trade receivables B 5 EUGK 45,541
Prepayments, deposits and AR ek
S other receivables HL A K 5,080
FINANCIA Pledged deposits [REEREE 16,636
SjUME“?A,RYV Cash and cash equivalents Re MREEHEY 52,220
R Trade and bills payables 5 R R TR AR (14,804)
Other payables and accruals HAb B EETIE B (35,379)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTESRITER (43,511)
Tax payable FESITIA (95)
Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIARE 26 (2,129
Finance lease payables BB SR (2,426)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AHAFEERAAEEERE 88,662
Goodwill on acquisition o RSES 16 57,944
146,606
Satisfied by cash* AR @ A 146,606

188

Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, approximately

RMB40,000,000 out of the total consideration of approximately
RMB146,606,000 will be paid in two years after the completion

of the Acquisition.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible

for income tax purpose.

CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)

* REBEREBE BREHOAR
#146,606,0007T F £ 49 A B K
40,000,000 7T #R fE FIE ST 14 A
EFff o
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29. Business combination (continued) 29, ¥KE56f (&)
CONSOLIDATED
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisition is BRKEEENESASITNT S
as follows: SARSRER
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash consideration paid BEEeRE (106,606)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EBABRSKRSEED 52,220
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ~ EHEEREEHIR SR STATEMENT
included in cash flows from HIH S MBS ZEEY OF Fg\l[fsl\‘lﬁlg&
investing activities TR (54,386) B HRE
30. Contingent liabilities 30. AAE
At the end of the reporting period, neither the Group nor the R EHRERE - AEEHAR AN
Company had any significant contingent liabilities. A EAKAEE -
31. Pledge of assets 31. EHEE

Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable and bank
loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are
included in Notes 23 and 25, respectively to the financial
statements.

32. Operating lease arrangements 32.

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to eleven years.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling

AEBUEEEBRZEAM - B
ERNIRITERZFB D ISR
WARMFTE23 K25 ©

RERERH

EREEA
ARERIFLELEHOZHEBE TH
REVHE - BEVEHEBNF1E1
f'z o

REEMN20105E12 A31 BIRE 57
MEIE 2 T REEER YA N2

due as follows: RRFIEES EZENT
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥ET T

Within one year —FR 12,481 8,280
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFERF

(BIEERMTE) 23,888 16,841

After five years AFE 18,872 22 647

55,241 47,768
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Notes to the Financial Statements il
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2010612 A31H

33. Commitments

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in Note 32 above, the Group had the following capital

33. HiH

B £ SCPfRE B2 Pt 2 S & TS 2 AE
SN MRS A R AR E 2 B A

commitments at the end of the reporting period: IR ¢
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Capital commitments in respect EEWE - BE
of property, plant and equipment: BB E AR AEGE
Contracted, but not provided for BERTAERIEL G 159,418 109,869
Authorised, but not contracted for BEHEERETL) 6,490 115,878
165,908 225,747

34. Related party transactions

(@ In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following

3. BEAELRS

BRAMBRREMBTAEZRS
Sh REENFRRBEALETE

material transactions with related parties during the year: ARZUT :
Group
rEH
2010 2009
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wizt ARMT T AREBTTT
Transactions with the ultimate S EES T
holding company RAINR S
Rental expense Gikaliba (i) - 351
Transactions with a ERRHE A7)
related company M5
Sale of products HEEm () 5,719 2,548
Rental expense Giskaliba (i) 440 391
Transactions with fellow HERT AR
subsidiaries H 5
Sale of products HEEm () 28,530 19,757
Purchase of products EBEEM (i) - 11,612
Purchase of property, BEYE -
plant and equipment B REE (i) - 38,470
Rental income HUA (i) - 676
Rental expense Giskcaliba (i) 1,365 1,512
Interest expense B (iv) - 2,475

CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)
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34. Related party transactions (continued)
(@  (continued)

Notes:

(i) The sales to the fellow subsidiaries and a related company
were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

(i)~ The purchases from the fellow subsidiaries were made
according to the published prices and conditions offered

by the fellow subsidiaries to their major customers.

(i) The rental income/expense were determined with
reference to the prevailing market rental.

(iv) Interest expenses arose from the loans from COFCO
Finance, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 ﬂj‘j’%ﬁﬁﬂﬁi
2010412 A31H
3. BEALRS (B)
(@ (#&)

() FIFREIREELGIHEET)
RIEE FIEEBIERIEHR T E
B+ ZE IR AT

(i) [FIFRBEIELAEETIREE
HIHEER FAAIMEETER
IR R T#ETT o

(i) HEKA AL TIRZERTT

(v) Tl RIS EL B PR (8
HEEFRE) B

b) BEEBALZREKRBHRE :

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Trade receivables = e
Fellow subsidiaries EESANE 8,924 3,886
A related company &N A 257 272
Prepayments, deposits and AR Ze Kk
other receivables oA pE K
Fellow subsidiaries GESSS/NC] 40 -
The ultimate holding company S e S /NG 130 100
A related company [EabE NG - 10
Other payables and accruals HAb R R EET & A
Fellow subsidiaries GESS/NG] 331 -
A related company BN A 4 =

The above balances are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

bt e Ty BN - AETEAY
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34. Related party transactions (continued) 34. BEAETRS (&)
CONSOLIDATED
ELQTHEM%NVJSOF c) Compensation of key management personnel of the € AEBEBEEASHNEE
BARLRER Group:
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKET T ARBTIT
Short term employee benefits HHEEERF 3,682 3,093
Post-employment benefits BEBR 18 fE A 289 273
STATEMENT
SSSF‘%NC'AL Total compensation paid to key TNFEBEER
AHAE management personnel AB BB 3,971 3,366
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in ﬁ%ﬁ%%@ﬂﬁﬂ@?&*iﬁ%%ﬁé
Note 8 to the financial statements. B SRER M FES A o
35. Financial instruments by category 35. RERETHNERTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EeBTEERNNRSHRMERRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as R
NOTES TO THE follows:
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BRI
Group
KEE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARBT T
Financial assets TEEE
Loans and receivables ERRERFRIE
S Trade receivables B 5 WK 635,885 451,997
FINANCIAL Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFEN K ~ 22K
Sl deposits and other receivables Hit R &R EE 84,418 41,860
Pledged deposits BEHFER 47,281 104,509
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEY 481,172 1,017,412
1,248,756 1,615,778
Financial liabilities TRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  REHEK A Bz SREE
Trade and bills payables SN KR ENEE 691,379 537,968
Financial liabilities included in STARAMEN R R
other payables and accruals ErrERNSmas 146,265 162,782
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BERTTIER 520,318 639,094
1,357,962 1,339,844

'1 92 CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% MQLEI

201012 A31H

35. Financial instruments by category (continued) 35. WERESHNERmT A ()
Company
RATHE
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Financial assets EREE
Loans and receivables B R ERRIE
Due from a subsidiary JEUT A FIFRIE 102,504 35,720
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATEN K » 2 & K
deposits and other receivables HibEW SR m e EE - 172
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEEY 7,258 566,046
109,762 601,938
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  REERAHEZSREAE
Financial liabilities included in other ST AE MR TR
payables and accruals EErERANESRAE 7,957 7,611
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 52 fETﬂﬁ?K 418,147 343,387
Due to a subsidiary ERFA - 35,808
426,104 386,306
The above financial assets and financial liabilities approximate REREEIR - LAk i@ﬁ&&@%ﬁa%
to their respective fair values as at the end of the reporting BEPRIEEANTERE
period.
Financial risk management objectives and 36. HEEBREEEEREX
policies
Financial risk factors B E R E =
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: RNE B/ E B AN B EE T R B %
market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk, and Efe - TiHRR (BIEIMNERRE - B
cash flow and fair value interest rate risks), credit risk, and Bk ReREaERATFENERKL)
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program FEERBLERBESER - NEEH
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks BeminE BT R ERRERTIEN

to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(@) Market risk
(i)  Foreign currency risk

The Company and most of its subsidiaries’
functional currency is RMB since the majority of
the revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 22) and bank borrowings (Note
25), which are denominated in USD and HKD. The
Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate
since the exposure is not significant.

el ¥ 1R BA R
HAE BB B RBA B E I E

(@) TR
i) SRR
RAFIREZHF AT
HEEEAARYE  ARZE

RAEZAZ B RE + B
MY R o SN RLER 2R B
BRERIRIMNRIB ARG
RHREERNEERE
& WAETT B TTAHER
Re MRS FEY (ME22)
BRI (H3E25) - BA
ZERIY AEKX - AEEIW
REDHEINEE R o
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36. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

)

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2010, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against USD with
all other variables held constant, the post-tax profit
for each of the years would have changed mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of USD and HKD denominated cash
and cash equivalents and borrowings. Details of
changes are as follows.

36.

—

B AR EE B ERBUR ()

fr i R & ()

@ WEER (&

U)

NS R B (48)
R2010F12 A31H il
FrE M ERIFE - M
AREEREETTHE &
5% BEFTESFHNTIEZ
MEEEEmMNE 52
AR BE X TR EEAE
MIRe MR EEYRERK
HIPE X Wzs E51E - B E)E
BT

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T
Post-tax profit increase/(decrease) Fi1&F B0, CFid)
— Strengthened 5% —FHES% 11,796 17,924
— Weakened 5% —B2{BE5% (11,796) (17,924)
Price risk (iy (EFSEER
Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw materials BOEMEEAEENEE

of the Group. The price for tinplate and aluminium
may be affected by market demand and supply,
domestic government policy and other economic
conditions. In order to maintain a continued
production cycle, the Group has a policy of
maintaining a certain level of tinplate and aluminium
inventories. The level of the Group’s tinplate and
aluminium inventories will depend on orders on
hand, the price of tinplate and aluminium in the
market and the perceived future trend of the tinplate
and aluminium price. In selecting suppliers, the
Group usually takes into consideration the price
and quality of the tinplate and aluminium. The
directors believe it is not necessary for the Group
to enter into any long-term supply contracts with its
suppliers to ensure stable material prices as there
are various sources of tinplate and aluminium and
the Group has not experienced any difficulties in
securing a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

Except for bank deposits with stable interest rates,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)
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36. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)
@iy Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

(continued)
The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The Group has
not hedged its cash flow and fair value interest rate
risks. The interest rates and terms of repayments of
bank borrowings are disclosed in Note 25.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulting from
the changes in interest rates, because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

As at 31 December 2010, if interest rates on bank
borrowings had been 10 basis points higher/lower
with all other variable held constant, the post-tax
profit for each of the year would have changed
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expenses
on floating rate borrowings. Details of the changes
are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\?J'i%iﬁ%% MQLEI

201012 A31H

36. B EMERE B FERBER (&)

B mEREE ()
(a) TERER (&
iy Bem=EEAFEFNERERR

(&)
AEBMFERBERRE
B - FEERSAERE
ZEeREFERR - EE
B R EAREE AT N EF
KRR o AEEWELEIR
ERE R FEF RERE
TS o SR1T 8 R F &
N FEAR I TE 25 5 -

R RITF A A R FEH
SRIEES - BRERHAN
RMEEH TR UFTEEEE
EEATE -

R2010F12 A31 8 » AT
AHMEERFTEMIRIT
BERR EFRE101E
I mREZBERAF
BRI, R BREE
EEFHEF BB LE
E) o EB)FFBUT ¢

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARET T

Post-tax profit increase/(decrease) #i1&FEE (i)

— 10 basis points higher — EF10EER
- 10 basis points lower — TR 10 {EE 2,

(424) (702)
424 702

(b) Credit risk

Except for the sales to the top five major customers
of the Group as detailed in Note 4 to the financial
statements, the Group has no other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The carrying amounts of
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and bills receivables and other receivables included
in the consolidated financial statements represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
its financial assets.

(i)  Deposits with banks
As at 31 December 2009 and 2010, all pledged
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents were
deposited in licensed financial institutions without
significant credit risk. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance of these
counterparties.

) 1FEREE

B B 75 Sk M k4 PO B9 [R) AN 5=
BHASMNTIERTFHHEN -
AEBEYELBRSERTHEE
R - &R A M |mRAAHIC B
RITER B RASEHEY -
BRI E RN RIRA R E A
RUHHREES AKBEME
REEEREEGBNRARGEE
R o

) SRIIER

R 20094 K 2010412 A 31
B FrE B RIFRITFERM
HeRBeEEWHTEAF
EERME  WEEREE
Rk - BEIEELFTEEE
ZERGEFONELMAE
RATEfAIE51E o
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36. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables

Management assesses the credit risk of customers
by taking into account their financial position and
past experience. The Group has put in place
policies to ensure that sales of products are made
to customers with an appropriate credit history and
the Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customers.

For those key customers with a long-term
relationship, on some occasions the Group
offered credit terms up to 90 days. The granting or
extension of any credit period must be approved by
senior management of the Group.

An allowance has been made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sales of goods
which has been determined by reference to past
default experience and objective evidence of
impairment such as an analysis of the particular
customers and their financial condition and the
ages of the trade receivables.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables
included in the statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets. The
directors are of the opinion that adequate provision
for uncollectible trade and other receivables has
been made in the financial statements.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of
funds through adequate amounts of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market positions.

All the Group’s financial liabilities will be settled within
six months based on the remaining contractual
maturity date at the end of the reporting period and
their contractual undiscounted payment amounts are
disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.
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36. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
represents equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position, plus net debt.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within 30%
to 70%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2010 were as
follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2010 E\Zl'i%iﬁ%% MQLEI

201012 A31H

36. B EMERE B FERBER (&)

EXREmEE

AEEEREANB N AREAREE
BBNSBELLETARRRERDR
AR RAEAERTA ASRA S - I
BERREERAGEBARD ESRA

RERFHABRERGE  AREH
EABRRNBEENEE - RBRRE
BENX  BITHBRO I EEENR

DEIA °

HENEMAOR K AEEREE
ABELREEHER © ZHERTHIR
BEFERUABEABEGE - AEF
BB AR (B MBEINE
TSR R E) R IER B E ) RIR & K
ReEEME - BERTHERES
B BARRRAF R INE EFEE -

AEBZREAEBEEG B R
E30%ZE70% 2 K ° KR2010F 12 A
J1BZEEBBLENT

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREET T ARETTT

Total borrowings (Note 25) ek (FisE25) 520,318 639,094

Less: Cash and cash A HeRREEEY

equivalents (Note 22) (FffzE22) (481,172) (1,017,412)

Net debt/(net cash) aEFE/ (FRL) 39,146 (378,318)
Total equity B 2,401,150 2,233,091
Total capital BB 2,440,296 1,854,773
Gearing ratio BEBALE 1.60% N/A

37. Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2011.
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Five-Year Financial Summary || -1 .4 |

h F R BE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is as below:

AEBBERFVRFEZRENEE
BEEFTRESHRE IREEEEHE L
REREAUBRRLEENEHHHR
(Em) - FAARTENTX :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT AREBTT ARETT ARETT

Revenue A 3,416,691 3,066,145 3,349,494 2739518 2,077,530

Cost of sales SHE A (2,890,984) (2,601,081) (2,950,436) (2,402,226) (1,823,005)

Gross profit E 525,707 465,064 399,058 337,292 254,525
Other gain/(losses) Hilzs/ (B18)

—net — %5 67,192 11,860 6,710) 12,799 1,318
Selling and marketing expenses ~ $H& K £ 1HE B (140,959)  (117,832)  (101,218)  (111,670) (91,999)
Administrative expenses THRE R (159,040)  (139,195)  (123,952) (88,960) (61,636)
Finance costs — net IS EBA %8 (6,699) (38,646) (42,588) (20,863) (18,224)
Profit before income tax BT 58 BRI E 286,201 181,251 124,590 128,598 83,984
Income tax expense PSRt (67,882) 27,410) (26,440) (24,650) (15,264)
Profit for the year FEFE 218,319 153,841 98,150 103,948 68,720
Attributable to: JEfh
Equity holders of the Company ~ AR RIEZEFA A 212,273 146,873 92,462 87,988 46,977
Non-controlling interests IR R 6,046 6,968 5,688 15,960 21,743

218,319 153,841 98,150 103,948 68,720
Assets, liabilities and BE 80

non-controlling interests FERER
Total assets BEE 3,952,266 3,669,156 2,710,519 2,533,882 1,676,971
Total liabilities BAE (1,551,116) (1,436,065) (1,534,723) (1,837,180) (1,050,804)
Non-controlling interests S (78,557) (72,511) (65,543) (89,340)  (151,646)

2,322,593 2,160,580 1,110,253 607,362 474,521

CPMC Holdings Limited #1885 A% B R A F)
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